

Tomasz Nikołajew

Emotional contagion in *Fmr1* knockout mice, a model of Fragile X Syndrome

PhD thesis Completed in the Laboratory of Emotions Neurobiology of the Nencki Institute of Experimental Biology Polish Academy of Sciences

SUPERVISOR: Prof. Ewelina Knapska, PhD, DSc

Auxiliary supervisor: Dr. Ksenia Meyza, PhD

Project was supported by the "Role of synaptic plasticity impairments in the development of asocial phenotype in mouse models of autism (NCN 2015/18/E/NZ4/00600)" grant.

Warsaw, 2024

Acknowledgements I would like to thank my supervisors Ksenia Meyza for her relentless support Ewelina Knapska for the opportunity to work in an outstanding laboratory all other colleagues from the Laboratory of Emotions Neurobiology and all the people I encountered in my scientific life

Table of contents

Abstract					
Streszczenie					
List of abbrevations7					
1. Introduction					
1.1. Emotions					
1.1.1.	Neuroanatomy of emotions	10			
1.2. Er	npathy	12			
1.2.1.	Emotional contagion				
1.2.2.	Automatization of analysis	15			
1.2.3.	Neuronal correlates of emotional contagion	16			
1.2.4.	Sex differences				
1.3. He	ow and why empathy is being studied?	19			
1.3.1.	Autism Spectrum Disorder	19			
1.3.2.	Mouse model used in this study				
1.3.3.	Autism Spectrum Disorder diagnosis				
1.4. He	ow emotional contagion can be studied				
1.4.1.	c-Fos as a neuronal novelty marker				
2. Aims	of the thesis	27			
3. Metho	3. Methods				
3.1. Aı	nimals				
3.2. Be	ehavioral paradigm				
3.2.1.	Habituation				
3.2.2.	Remote Transfer of Fear paradigm				
3.3. Sc	oring behavioral data				
3.3.1.	DeepLabCut and Simple Behavioral Analysis				
3.3.2.	Manual scoring	30			
3.3.3.	Automatic scoring	31			
3.4. Ti	ssue preparation	36			
3.5. In	nmunostaining	36			
3.6. c-1	Fos analysis	37			
3.7. St	atistical analysis	39			
3.7.1.	Statisitical tests	39			
4. Result	S	41			
4.1. A	comparison of manual vs. automatic behavior analysis	41			

4	.2. Be	havior		
	4.2.1.	Social sniffing		
	4.2.2.	Exploration		
	4.2.3.	Stereotypic behavior		
	4.2.4.	Locomotor activity		
4	.3. Ne	uronal activation pattern (c-Fos expression)		
	4.3.1.	The Amygdala		
	4.3.2.	The Prefrontal Cortex		
5.	Discuss	sion	64	
6.	Summary			
7.	Conclusions			
8.	References			
9.	Publication record of the PhD Candidate			

Abstract

Lately, we can observe a steady increase in the number of autism spectrum disorder (ASD) diagnoses. The ASD population is characterised with deficits in social interactions and communication, as well as the presence of stereotyped behavior. Lack of social skills often manifests itself through empathy impairment. Until recently, empathy was thought to occur only in humans, but a growing body of research indicates that emotional contagion - the simplest form of empathy, is widely found in nature, including in primates, marine mammals, birds and rodents. Despite the importance of the phenomenon, there is still little data on the neuronal basis of sharing emotions.

Aim of my PhD project was to assess the empathic abilities and the activity pattern within the amygdala and the prefrontal cortex of Fmr1KO(FVB) mice (both males and females) - commonly used mouse model of ASD. To study this phenomenon, I employed the Remote Transfer of Fear paradigm, in which mice are housed in pairs for three weeks, one labelled an Observer, and the other a Demonstrator. In the test session, the Demonstrator is subjected to aversive stimuli outside of the home cage, while the Observer remains there undisturbed. Then, the Demonstrator returns to the home cage, where it can freely interact with the Observer and the first nine minutes of interactions are recorded. The activity of the amygdala and prefrontal cortex was assessed using immunohistochemistry against c-Fos protein, a standard neuronal novelty marker. Behavior was measured by using software utilizing machine learning, for automatic pose estimation (DeepLabCut) and automatic classification and recognition of animal behavior patterns (simBA).

Behavioral and c-Fos activation pattern results indicated the existence of deficits in emotional contagion in Fmr1KO(FVB) mice. Furthermore, data obtained during this study points to differences in response to stressed partner between females and males, both on behavioral and c-Fos levels. The behavior recognition model created during this study made it possible to study behavior with great accuracy, and after short re-training, can be successfully used in another study.

Streszczenie

W ostatnim czasie obserwujemy stały wzrost liczby diagnoz zaburzeń ze spektrum autyzmu (ASD). Osoby w spektrum charakteryzują deficyty w interakcjach społecznych i komunikacji, a także obecność stereotypowych zachowań. Brak umiejętności społecznych często manifestuje się u nich także upośledzeniem empatii. Do niedawna uważano, że empatia występuje jedynie u ludzi, natomiast rosnąca liczba badań wskazuje, że zarażenie emocjonalne - najprostsza forma empatii, występuje powszechnie w przyrodzie, w tym u naczelnych, ssaków morskich, ptaków i gryzoni. Pomimo znaczenia tego zjawiska, wciąż istnieje niewiele danych na temat neuronalnych podstaw dzielenia się emocjami.

Celem mojego projektu doktorskiego była ocena zdolności empatycznych i wzorca aktywności w ciele migdałowatym i korze przedczołowej myszy Fmr1KO(FVB) (zarówno samców, jak i samic) - powszechnie stosowanego mysiego modelu ASD. Aby zbadać to zjawisko zastosowałem paradygmat Pośredniego Transferu Strachu, w którym myszy są trzymane w parach przez co najmniej trzy tygodnie przed eksperymentem. Jedna z myszy zostaje oznaczona jako Obserwator, a druga jako Demonstrator. W sesji testowej Demonstrator jest poddawany awersyjnym bodźcom poza klatką domową, podczas gdy Obserwator pozostaje w klatce domowej. Następnie Demonstrator zostaje umieszczony z powrotem w klatce domowej, gdzie może swobodnie wchodzić w interakcje z Obserwatorem, a pierwsze dziewięć minut interakcji jest nagrywane. Aktywność ciała migdałowatego i kory przedczołowej oceniano za pomocą barwień immunohistochemicznych przeciwko białku c-Fos, standardowemu neuronalnemu markerowi nowości. Zachowanie zanalizowano przy użyciu oprogramowania wykorzystującego uczenie maszynowe do automatycznego szacowania pozycji (DeepLabCut) oraz automatycznej klasyfikacji i rozpoznawania wzorców zachowań zwierząt (simBA).

Wyniki behawioralne i wzorce aktywacji c-Fos wskazały na istnienie deficytów w zarażaniu emocjonalnym u myszy Fmr1KO(FVB). Co więcej, dane uzyskane podczas tego badania pokazały różnice w reakcji na zestresowanego partnera między samicami i samcami, zarówno na poziomie behawioralnym, jak i w poziomie białka c-Fos. Model analityczny stworzony podczas tego badania umożliwił badanie zachowania z dużą dokładnością, a co więcej, po krótkim przetrenowaniu, powodzeniem może być wykorzystywany w innych badaniach.

List of abbrevations

- ACC Anterior Cingulate Cortex
- ACO the of *c*-fos antisense oligonucleotide
- AP anterior posterior
- AP-1 Activator Protein-1
- ASD autism spectrum disorder
- BLA basolateral nucleus of the Amygdala
- CeA central nucleus of the Amygdala
- **Dem** Demonstrator
- DLC DeepLabCut
- ERK1/2 extracellular signal-regulated kinases 1 and 2
- FMPR Fragile X Messenger Ribonucleoprotein 1
- FXS Fragile X Syndrome
- HPA axis Hypothalamus-Pituitary-Adrenal axis
- Hth Hypothalamus
- IEG immediate-early genes
- IL Infralimbic Cortex
- KO Knockout
- LA lateral nucleus of the Amygdala
- LTP Long Term Potentiation
- MeA medial nuclei of the Amygdala
- mPFC medial Prefrontal Cortex
- Obs Observator
- OFC Orbitofrontal Cortex
- OFL Observational Fear Learning
- PAG Periaqueductal Grey
- PBS Phospate Buffer Saline
- **PrL** Prelimbic Cortex
- SHANK3 SH3 and multiple ankyrin repeat domains 3

SimBA - Simple Behavioral Analysis

SNP - single nucleotide polymorphism

STS - Superior Temporal Sulcus

TC - Temporal Cortex

- Thal Thalamus
- TPJ Temporo-Parietal Junction
- TSC1/2 Tuberous sclerosis proteins 1 and 2
- USV Ultrasonic vocalization
- **vmPFC** ventro medial Prefrontal Cortex
- VTA Ventral Tegmental Area

WT - Wildtype

1. Introduction

1.1. Emotions

Description of what an emotion is presents a difficult task. There are many definitions used by different research groups (Kret et al., 2022). Damasio (Damasio, 2004) pp. 50, 52 describes emotions as 'bioregulatory reactions', which can be measured by physiological measures and whose role is to modify our behavior in order to adapt to the changing environment. They are not necessarily conscious or can cause feelings. Anderson & Adolphs (Anderson & Adolphs, 2014) propose to define emotions as internal states of the brain, 'Emotion primitives', which can be expressed through simple behaviors like approach or avoidance and can be found even in fruit flies. In search of neuronal correlates of emotions LeDoux (LeDoux, 2017) recently suggested to study 'survival circuits' - neural circuits found in subcortical areas, governed by the amygdala and responsible mainly for defensive and appettitive behaviors crucial for species survival. In case of 'feelings' or what we call emotions in humans, LeDoux (LeDoux, 2021) considers them not directly caused by activity of the survival circuits but a parallel phenomenon merely correlated with emotions. A similiar perspective is presented by Barrett (Barrett, 2006). She presents a view that emotions are predictively constructed by the brain, postulating focus on these mental representations ('feelings') rather than the physiological state of the organism during a given emotion. According to her view, to be capable of experiencing feelings, a highly evolved neocortex is necessary as well as an ability to verbally report subjective experiences, which by definition is near impossible to study in species different from humans. On the other hand, Paul Ekman suggests that basic emotions are universal for every human despite differences in language, ethnicity, culture or origins (Ekman et al., 1999) pp. 301-320. Already in XIX century Darwin (Ekman, 1998) observed that many species exhibit similar emotional reactions (e.g. defecating in presence of great danger, infant weeping, piloerection during arousal or obliquity of eyebrows while suffering, and suggested that these may exist abundantly in animal kingdom.

For a long time scientists thought that animals do not possess the capacity to have mixed emotions (Grandin & Johnson, 2006) and that they only display few, very basic ones (McFarland, 1982). There is, however, growing evidence this is not the case. For example a frightened chimpanzee was seen poking a snake, simultaneously displaying hesitation and curiosity, a clear exhibit of more sophisticated emotions (Menzel, 1974). The ability to turn

from hostile to friendly attitude towards a conspecific (reconciliation) also indicates the existence of more complex emotional states rather than just straightforward ones. For example, reconciliation was observed in many social species such as primates, dolphins, hyenas and goats (Aureli & De Waal, 2000).

Debate about emotions and semantics is still ongoing, but consensus is that there are present internal (interoceptive) states that arise in response to the various stimuli, which then influence the behavior. Such states can be measured also in animals. For the basic emotional states, such as fear and anxiety, the neuronal background is well-defined. Many studies carried out in rodents and in human subjects consistently point to a high activation of the amygdala (M. Davis, 1992; LaBar et al., 1998; LeDoux, 2003) during tasks evoking these states. Stimulating rat amygdala elicits fight and flight response which confirms its important role in processing defensive responses. Notably, akin physiological reactions are noticed across many species in response to threat. Increased heart rate and blood pressure was observed in birds, rats, cats, dogs, and primates after stressful stimuli (Halász & Shepherd, 1983). Thus, even if we cannot ask animals what they feel, animal research can still give us insight into how aversive and appetitive stimuli are processed in the brain. While appreciating the fact that the debate about emotions is still ongoing, I will refer to the aversive and appetitive responses of animals as emotions throughout my thesis for the sake of simplicity.

1.1.1. Neuroanatomy of emotions

One of the first hypotheses describing the structures responsible for emotion recognition and social interaction was the one proposed by James Papez, called the Papez Circuit. Brain areas presumably controlled emotions included the thalamus (Thal), hypothalamus (Hth), anterior cingulate cortex (ACC) and the hippocampus (Papez, 1937). At that time, research done by Kluver and Bucy, showed that damaging temporal lobe can lead to abnormal emotional reactions, such as: loss of fear, hyperactivity, hyper-sexuality or coprophagy (Klüver & Bucy, 1937). Subsequent studies conducted on monkeys demonstrated that bilateral lesion of the amygdala is sufficient to produce a similar effect, which confirmed the role of this structure in emotional processing (Weiskrantz, 1956). Another brain region included was the neocortex, whose function is to control cortical and subcortical regions previously mentioned. This set of brain areas was later called the limbic system (MacLean, 1990). This term is still functioning as a concept although some scientist postulate that due to emotions being controlled by distinct neural substrates, it should become obsolete (Calder et al., 2001). Ongoing research points to additional structures such a orbitofrontal cortex (OFC), temporal cortex (TC), ventral tegmental area (VTA) and medial prefrontal Cortex (mPFC) as playing a role in controlling emotions (Porcelli et al., 2019). The most studied brain region in context of emotions, mainly connected with fear, is still the amygdala which is described as the hub of all stimuli coming from different modalities (Herry & Johansen, 2014; Knapska et al., 2007). Amygdala is a complex structure with distinct parts and is characterized by multiple connections with other structures such as the hippocampus, PFC or brainstem (LeDoux, 2000). Conditioned Fear experiments revealed that neural circuits including lateral (LA) and central nuclei of amygdala (CeA) are necessary for acquisition, storage and expression of fear responses (Davis & Whalen, 2001; Goosens & Maren, 2001; Kapp et al., 1992). A study performed on mice by Karalis (Karalis et al., 2016) indicates the importance of reciprocal connection between the prefrontal cortex and the amygdala in fear expression, and that freezing response correlates with internally generated 4-Hz oscillations in the prefrontal-amygdala circuit. Optogentically induced oscillation of that frequency was sufficient to evoke a freezing response. It was also observed that the activity of the prelimbic cortex (PrL) recorded by multichannel unit recording was synchronized with the freezing behavior after auditory fear conditioning (Burgos-Robles et al., 2009). (Cummings & Clem, 2020) provided data suggesting that microcircuits of somatostatin and parvalbumin interneurons in mPFC encode memory formation and expression of fear.

Modern neuroscience suggests that emotion processing is done by dynamic and hierarchical set of neural circuits dispersed throughout the whole brain. They are involved and specialize in various aspects of emotions processing and are collectively referred to as the Social Brain (Adolphs, 2009). Scientists distinguished five different, large-scale networks responsible for various aspects of emotion-related processes. Three of them, social perception network, social affiliation network and social aversion network are engaged in noticing, interpreting and reacting towards social stimuli. Social perception networks' main task is to detect social stimuli, which facilitates engagement in social interaction. It is controlled by the amygdala and its connections with the hippocampus, orbitofrontal cortex and temporal pole (Bickart et al., 2014). Another important brain area with strong connection to the amygdala is the fusiform face area, which is selectively activated by face stimuli (Gobbini & Haxby, 2006). Both social affiliation and social aversion networks are processing social stimuli and decide whether to act pro-social or stay away from these stimuli. The amygdala plays a crucial role in both systems through its

connections with the VTA, ventromedial prefrontal cortex (vmPFC) and the ACC. It is thought that these brain areas govern pro-social aspects of the social affiliation network (Aron et al., 2005; Bickart et al., 2012; Inagaki et al., 2016; Moll et al., 2006). On the other hand, aversion network is formed by the amygdala, caudal ACC, the insula and its connections to ventrolateral striatum, the hypothalamus and the brainstem (Buckholtz et al., 2008; Moll et al., 2005).

Another proposed neural network related to processing of social stimuli is the mirroring network, responsible for the capacity to learn and understand others through imitation. It consists of mirror neurons found in the superior temporal sulcus (STS) and the ventral premotor cortex. These cells belong to the visuomotor neurons group that is characterized with being active during both execution and observation of task (Rizzolatti & Craighero, 2004). The most recent addition to the circuitry is the system called the mentalizing network, in charge of our ability to detect mental states of others and differentiate them from our own. Main brain regions forming this network are the posterior STS, the temporo-parietal junction (TPJ), the anterior temporal poles and the mPFC (Frith & Frith, 2006). Through perspective taking, the mentalizing and mirroring systems give us the capability to imagine and understand emotions, actions and intentions of others.

1.2. Empathy

Empathy can be described as a phenomenon, where one has a capacity to distinguish, share and respond to distress in others (de Waal, 2008). While living in social groups, communication is essential to thrive and for development of tightly knit societies. Perception of others' emotions helps us understand each other better, and interpret other peoples' behavior, make inferences about their intentions and motives which makes social interactions easier.

While empathy is often considered an only humans trait, the fact that emotions can spread onto conspecifics probably evolved even before our species formed (Eibl-Eibesfeldt, 1974; MacLean, 1985). It can be explained by a model proposed by Preston and de Waal (De Waal & Preston, 2017; Preston & De Waal, 2002) which divides empathy into three levels thus reminding a famous toy - the 'Russian-doll'. The most basic expression of empathy is known as *Emotional Contagion*. It serves as the foundation for more sophisticated process - *Empathic Concern*, which in turn is a foundation for the most complicated phenomena - *Perspective*

Taking and Targeted Helping. Importantly, according to this model, the highest levels of empathy cannot happen without the presence of the lower ones. Hatfield et al (Hatfield et al., 1994) defines *Emotional Contagion* as an ability to share emotional states between individuals, allowing for swift adjustment to changing environment and therefore giving better chance for survival. Hoffman (Hoffman, 1975) states that this process, due to its automatic and rapid nature, does not involve consciousness. In my research I will focus on this simplest form of empathy.

1.2.1. Emotional contagion

Emotional contagion has been observed in many species. In human newborns it can be seen at the maternity ward, when crying spreads between babies (Hoffman, 1975; Zahn-Waxler et al., 1984). Transmission of fear can be also seen in birds when they all suddenly take off due to one of them being startled. Another example of emotional contagion is when mother chimpanzees whimper when they heard their offspring cry (de Waal, 2008). It was also observed in rats and pigeons when they exhibited stress response after perceiving a conspecific in distress, which then influenced their behavior by temporary suppressing a previously learnt instrumental response (Church, 1959; Watanabe & Ono, 1986).

Emotional contagion can be also observed on a physiological level. In humans, cardiac activity was found increased, as compared with a control group, in people watching others experiencing stressful stimuli (Dimitroff et al., 2017). Emotional contagion is not limited to within-species occurrence which further reinforces its high prevalence in the animal kingdom. A study done on humans and horses has shown that when a person standing next to a horse became anxious both, horses and humans had reported elevated heart rate (Keeling et al., 2009). In our study it was also shown that after interactions of recently fear-conditioned human with rat it can elicit emotional arousal in rat measured by increased amygdala activation and occurrence of risk assessment behavior (Kaźmierowska et al., 2023).

Studies done on rodents showed also that distress can be transferred through social interaction between conspecifics. Rats who interacted with recently socially defeated partner exhibited social avoidance behavior and had increased heart-rate and elevated corticosterone levels (Carnevali et al., 2020). It was reported that prolonged observation of the social defeat

of conspecific by aggressor mouse can induce social avoidance in the Observer when confronted with novel social stimulus (Warren et al., 2013). In the same study when the Observer could not witness social defeat of the partner due to the opaque non-perforated divider social avoidance in the Observer was not elicited. Similar research done on female mice also confirms that blocking visual and olfactory cues inhibits development of social avoidance in animal witnessing social defeat (Iñiguez et al., 2018). Further investigation on sensory channels through which emotional information may transfer revealed that only hearing social defeat of conspesific is also not enough to induce social avoidance in witnessing Observer (Patki et al., 2015). These findings reinforce the view that emotional contagion cannot occur without multimodal cues or social interactions.

Experiencing pain can be modulated by social stimulus as well. Studies performed by Langford et al (Langford et al., 2006) revealed that when mice were subjected to a noxious stimulus in dyads their pain response was higher than in animals tested individually. Further research shows that just smelling and hearing others' pain can be enough to produce hyperalgesia in mice housed in the same facility room together with animals subjected to long-lasting painful stimuli (Smith et al., 2016).

Another phenomenon frequently linked with Emotional Contagion is known as 'motor mimicry'. It happens when a subject mimics the behavior of the conspecific and it is happening without a conscious effort (Van Baaren et al., 2009). Yawning is one such example (Helt et al., 2010). Interestingly contagious yawning was noticed in many species: non-human primates (Campbell & de Waal, 2010, 2011), canines (Romero et al., 2014) and rodents (Moyaho et al., 2015). To classify behavioral response as 'mimicry' the copied behavior has to occur with delay up to 5 seconds (Chartrand & Lakin, 2013). Other examples of such mirroring behavior, which comes mostly from human data, may include mimicking body posture (Tia et al., 2011), facial expressions representing emotions (Hess & Blairy, 2001; Lundqvist, 1995; Mui et al., 2018), cry (Simner, 1971) or laughter (Provine, 1992). Furthermore, there is growing evidence that such synchronization is not limited to motor mimicry, but it can occur in heart-rate or pupil-diameter during social interactions (Palumbo et al., 2017). Researchers suggest that emotional contagion may be actually a consequence of automatic mimicry and synchronization of behavior (Cacioppo et al., 2000).

Emotional contagion can be studied by employing various behavioral paradigms such as Fear Conditioning by Proxy, Observational Fear Learning or Remote Transfer of Fear. In Fear Conditioning by Proxy rats are interacting with a cage-mate who was recently fear conditioned during fear memory retrieval. In this approach we can test the social fear learning process during which at some point transfer of emotional information between conspecifics should occur. Some tested rats are able to acquire condition response for a tone only by interacting with fear conditioned rat (Bruchey et al., 2010). Another often used paradigm is Observational Fear Learning. Research conducted on mice showed that by just observing another mouse being fear conditioned (pairing previously neutral stimuli, like a tone, with a footshock) mice can learn to freeze to the tone. Furthermore, when two animals (rats or mice) are present in the same chamber, divided only by a perforated wall, an electric shock to just one of them is sufficient to elicit fear response in both of them (Atsak et al., 2011; Q. L. Chen et al., 2009; Gonzalez-Liencres et al., 2014; Jeon et al., 2010). What is worth noticing, after repeated exposure to the Demonstrator being subjected to foot shock, Observer levels of freezing are decreasing (Carrillo et al., 2015). A different approach to study fear transfer is to observe interactions between recently stressed animal (Demonstrator) with naïve partner (Observer) in the safe conditions of home cage. Studies performed on rats (Knapska et al., 2006, 2010) and mice (Meyza et al., 2015) showed that emotions are socially transferred from the Demonstrator to the Observer and result with a change in the Observers' behavior (Remote Transfer of Fear). This paradigm will be described in more detail in the later chapters.

1.2.2. Automatization of analysis

Recently, due to overall development in the field of new learning algorithms, i.e. advanced theory and more user-friendly interface (sophisticated programming, and statistical skills are no longer necessary) machine learning based tools became more popular among scientists (Bordes et al., 2023; Glaser et al., 2019). The push for growth of this area came with the technological advances in methods used in neuroscience. Current state-of-the-art techniques produce big sets of data, which are getting harder and harder to analyze manually (Greener et al., 2022). Thus, machine learning approach is getting more and more popular in the analysis of such big sets of data.

Banos et al (Banos et al., 2024) conducted a meta-analysis of all literature which used machine learning approach to study Human Emotion Recognition. Based on 65 review publications, the study concluded that automatic emotion recognition is well established and can be used with great success. Unfortunately, due to the variability in autism research machine

learning tools usage in autism studies need further validation. Similar analyses can be carried out in animals studies. Team led by Dolensek (Dolensek et al., 2020) classified mouse facial expressions into emotion-like categories (neutral baseline, pain induced by tailshock, bitter after quinine lick, sweet after sucrose, malaise after lithium chloride, active and passive fear expression after footshock) that could be compared with human emotions. Similar reseach was done by Tanaka (Tanaka et al., 2023) where emotional states reflected by facial expression were classified into neutral, aversive (induced by tail pinching) and appetitive (induced by brushing). Another example was provided by Loos (Loos et al., 2014) who implemented machine learning tools to analyze huge sets of behavioral data coming from continuous observation of a few different strains of mice living in the safe environment of the home-cage. Results obtained in this study showed distinct behavioral patterns depending on the strain. Unprecedented opportunity to classify and recognize emotions and behaviors displayed by animals combined with neuroimaging and neuromanipulating techniques will provide new ways to study neuronal correlates of emotions.

1.2.3. Neuronal correlates of emotional contagion

Data obtained from human studies show that observing other people experiencing fear (Olsson et al., 2007) or being subjected to painful stimuli (Bernhardt & Singer, 2012) can trigger similar brain activation in the amygdala, insular and anterior cingulate cortex (ACC) as first-hand experience. Similar experiments were done on rats when the reaction of an individual towards a stressed mate was investigated. In this study animals were more interested in stressed conspecifics than in ones from the control group. Observer rats after social interactions with a Demonstrator who was recently subjected to an electric shock displayed almost identical c-Fos expression in the basolateral (BLA) and medial nuclei of the amygdala (MeA) and prelimbic (PrL) and infralimbic (IL) parts of the PFC as the Demonstrator (Knapska et al., 2006; Mikosz et al., 2015). Furthermore, encounters with a stressed partner elicited an activation of the central nucleus of the amygdala (CeA), while receiving footshocks did not. For my MSc project (Meyza et al., 2015) I employed the same behavioral paradigm on mice which confirmed empathic abilities in this species, although activation pattern differed from the one observed in the rat study. In the amygdala, interaction with a stressed cage mate activated only the BLA in Observer mice, while expression pattern in prefrontal cortices was similar in rats and mice. In

the Observational Fear Paradigm inactivation of ACC, parafascicular or medidorsal thalamic nuclei by lidocaine led to deficits in contagious freezing. Further investigations pointed to the role of Ca_v 1.2 type 1 Calcium channels, responsible for synaptic transmission in the ACC in this process (Jeon et al., 2010). Later studies showed also the involvement of dopamine and serotonin receptors in the Observational Fear Paradigm as well. Inhibiting dopamine D2 receptor and 5-HT_{1A} and 5-HT_{2A} serotonin receptors in the ACC blocked the freezing response of the Observer in the Observational Fear Paradigm (Kim et al., 2014). Also, an induction of long-term potentiation in the dorsomedial prefrontal cortex-basolateral amygdala pathway was observed in animals observing fear in others (Ito & Morozov, 2019). Another paradigm used in emotional contagion research, Fear Conditioning by Proxy, showed that the lateral amygdala nucleus (LA) and the ventral CA1 region of the hippocampus are required for acquisition and retrieval of socially acquired fear response (Jones & Monfils, 2016). Studies performed on prairie voles also indicate the role of ACC and oxytocin signaling in emotional contagion (Burkett et al., 2016). Social Fear Conditioning paradigm which linked fear response with social interactions (every time when freely moving mice engaged in social interactions with a conspecific they were subjected to a footshock) indicated the involvement of somatostatin neurons in the prefrontal cortex in controlling fear expression. Xu et al (Xu et al., 2019) postulated that activation of somatostatin interneurons disinhibits pyramidal neurons in the dorsomedial prefrontal cortex, which through their projections to the Amygdala (LeDoux, 2000; Likhtik et al., 2014) and the periaqueductal grey (PAG) (Franklin et al., 2017; Rozeske et al., 2018) mediate fear response evoked in social conditions.

Another important phenomenon necessary for emotional contagion to occur and preceding it is the process of emotional recognition which gives an individual an ability to notice emotional expressions in others, which in turn provides essential information about their emotional state (Ferretti & Papaleo, 2019). Studies performed in mice showed that the prefrontal cortex plays a pivotal role in long-term social recognition memory. Mice were tested in the social recognition test, in which, with repeated exposure to a social stimulus animals interest in conspecific decreases. Interestingly in the PFC-lesioned group this was not observed (Sakamoto & Yashima, 2022). More detailed research focused on the hypothalamus and oxytocin signaling showed that endogenous oxytocin release from paraventricular nucleus of the hypothalamus to the central amygdala is required for discrimination of emotional states of other mice (Ferretti et al., 2019). The studies of Francesco Papaleo's group showed that the prefrontal cortex is causally involved in emotional discrimination in mice (Scheggia et al., 2020).

It is often postulated that emotional contagion can occur due to the autonomic mimicry mechanism. Activation of the Hypothalamus-Pituitary-Adrenal axis (HPA axis) in response to stressful stimuli leads to an increase in stress hormone levels in the bloodstream, which is accompanied by physiological reactions such as blushing, pupil dilatation or sweating (Prochazkova & Kret, 2017). When the Observer unconsciously notices this set of symptoms, the superior collicus-pulvinar pathway to the amygdala is activated. This is turn, through locus coeruleus activation, triggers the HPA axis thus mimicking physiological reactions in the Observer (Tamietto & De Gelder, 2010). Simultaneously, through the amygdala and locus coeruleus pathway, the OFC and the ACC are activated which initiates the sensing of the stress response (Adolphs, 2001; Decety, 2011; Mutschler et al., 2013). Research performed on mice showed that socially transferred stress, similar to direct experience of the stressor, can induce plasticity in corticotropin-releasing hormone neurons found in paraventricular nucleus of the hypothalamus confirming its role in emotional contagion (Sterley et al., 2018).

It is also worth noticing that there is ongoing debate about the rodent prefrontal cortex nomenclature. Based on the meta-analysis of publications reporting findings related to the mouse prefrontal cortex, there are inconsistencies with regard to anatomical borders and the functional analogy to human PFC which makes it more difficult to draw conclusions from rodent prefrontal cortex data in the context of social interactions (Laubach et al., 2018).

1.2.4. Sex differences

A major factor which may influence empathic abilities of an individual is the sex. Human research points to gender differences in empathy (Baron-Cohen & Wheelwright, 2004; Rueckert & Naybar, 2008; Schulte-Rüther et al., 2008) and the influence of the estrous cycle on women empathic behavior (Derntl et al., 2008; Guapo et al., 2009). Study conducted by (Mikosz et al., 2015) showed sex differences in the c-Fos expression pattern after social interactions with a stressed conspecific, even though there was no significant distinction in the behavioral response. Most experiments aimed at elucidating behavioral and neuronal correlates of emotional contagion are however done on males due to a common belief that menstrual cycle

variability will overwhelm results obtained from the study. Recent publication from Levy (Levy et al., 2023) suggests that every animal has an individual pattern of behavior, which the estrous cycle affects only minimally. Hopefully, this will encourage more research performed on both sexes to better understand its effect on empathy. Findings presented in this dissertation include results obtained from both male and female mice.

1.3. How and why empathy is being studied?

One of the ways to understand how a given phenomenon functions, and what the exact mechanism of it is, is to study the examples of impairment or even lack of the mentioned process in a model organism. An example would be to study emotional processing in people who may exhibit impairments in this area, e.g. in Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD) patients. Since most of human research utilizes neuroimaging techniques, the results are often correlative in nature. To better understand neuronal correlates of this disease more detailed information can be obtained with the use of animal models.

1.3.1. Autism Spectrum Disorder

Living in a society requires an ability to communicate with conspecifics and any deficit in this domain may severely impact our quality of life. Emotion recognition is one of the skills which is crucial for social interactions and communication. A natural group to study deficits in this domain would be the people with ASD diagnosis. ASD is a neurodevelopmental disorder characterized by impairments in social communication and the presence of stereotypic behaviors as well as rigid behavioral patterns (Lai et al., 2014). The main causes of autism are not well understood. Research done on monozygotic twins and its high heritability indicate a strong genetic component of the disease (Freitag, 2007). Together with environmental factors during early development, such as prenatal exposure to toxins (e.g. a commonly used anti-epileptic drug, sodium valproate) or maternal stress during pregnancy (Varghese et al., 2017), the etiology of ASD is often difficult to pinpoint. Pregnant women treated with valproate have a trifold increased risk of having their child diagnosed with ASD (Bromley et al., 2008; Christensen et al., 2013). Additionally to its high heritability, as many as 30% cases can be

assigned to de novo mutations (De Rubeis & Buxbaum, 2015; Pinto et al., 2014). Some examples of most studied mutations are those found in single genes, such as, TSC1/2 (lack of which causes tuberous sclerosis). It is a translational regulator and its malfunction can result in cerebellar deficits, brain enlargement and hyperactive mTOR signaling (Hampson & Blatt, 2015; Hevner, 2015; Vaughan et al., 2022). Another example is SHANK3 gene. Protein encoded by this gene is a synaptic scaffolding molecule and incorrect levels of it may lead to striatal dysfunctions, lower Long Term Potentation (LTP) and F-actin dysregulation in PFC (Duffney et al., 2015; Jacot-Descombes et al., 2020; Schmeisser et al., 2012; Wang et al., 2011) or whole chromosome aberrations for instance 15q11-q13 deletions (Prader-Willi Syndrome), 15q13.3 microdeletion (Angleman syndrome), or 22q11.2 deletion (DiGeorge syndrome) (Varghese et al 2017). Mutations caused by CGG triplet expansion within the FMR1 gene located on the X chromosome may lead to Fragile X Syndrome. The FMPR (Fragile X messenger ribonucleoprotein) is responsible for translational regulation and its deficiency manifest itself with enhanced protein synthesis, hypersensitivity to ERK1/2 pathway activation, higher dendritic spine density and altered synaptic plasticity (Kumari & Usdin, 2020; Lannom et al., 2021; Zhang et al., 2018). Up to 30% people suffering from Fragile X Syndrome are codiagnozed with ASD.

Autism patients are also often diagnosed with immune system dysregulation, which was identified both in human subjects and in several mouse ASD models (Estes & McAllister, 2016; Malkova et al., 2012; Matta et al., 2019; Noriega & Savelkoul, 2014). Various immune response related genes were found to be upregulated in ASD subjects (Garbett et al., 2008) which suggests an ongoing inflammation state both in their brains and in the periphery. Lately it was also shown that through prevalent connections between gut microbiota and central nervous system bidirectional communication can occur (Agirman & Hsiao, 2021) and gut microbiotabrain axis started to be intensively studied, also in ASD research. It was noticed that people with autism often suffer from gastrointestinal issues, such as inflammatory bowel syndrome (Lee et al., 2018; McElhanon et al., 2014) and that their microbiome profile is distinct from the healthy individuals which is associated with abnormal metabolism activity (Dan et al., 2020; Hughes et al., 2018).

Another factor which might influence social and empathic abilities is the epigenetic makeup of an individual. Higher levels of oxytocin receptor promoter methylation were observed in ASD patients, which might affect their social skills (Baribeau et al., 2017; Kosaka et al., 2016). A mouse model with a knockout in the gene responsible for histone acetylation

was found to have deficits in social skills (Nott et al., 2016). Also, lower histone acetylation in the Prefrontal Cortex was observed in crab-eating monkeys after being prenatally exposed to valproic acid (Zhao et al., 2019). It is consistent with data obtained from human studies, showing that around 68% of people with ASD diagnosis have distorted histone acetylation profile (Sun et al., 2016).

Interestingly, some scientists point to mitochondria dysfunction as a cause for ASD. High energy demand of the brain and its deficiency during development may result in brain malfunction. Mitochondria regulate calcium homeostasis in the cell so any disturbance of that fragile equilibrium may lead to impairments in cell signaling pathways in neurons (Khaliulin et al., 2024).

Importantly, in most cases of ASD, the etiology is multifactorial (Varghese et al., 2017) and only 5-10% of cases can be associated with a single gene mutation or a SNP. With many factors converging in one individual it is often difficult to trace them all, and such cases are then referred to as idiopathic.

1.3.1.1. Neuroanatomy of ASD

The diverse and often unknown etiology of ASD complicates attempts to find precise neuronal correlates of the disorder. Recent findings from human neuroimaging studies describe few abnormalities found in ASD individuals compared with healthy control groups such as smaller neurons in several brain areas (archeocortex, cerebellum, brainstem) (Wegiel et al., 2014, 2015), as well as altered cortical structure and misplaced neurons as a result of incorrect neuronal migration and maturation (Casanova et al., 2013; Stoner et al., 2014).

Cerebral cortex is organized in a hierarchical way. At the bottom layers there are sensory and motor brain areas, then we have higher areas responsible for integrations of signals. At the top of cortical hierarchy structure, among others, there is prefrontal cortex which has a role in representation and execution of actions. Its medial and orbital parts are associated with controlling emotional behavior (Fuster, 2001). It was noticed that in young children diagnosed with ASD, the prefrontal cortex is bigger (Carper & Courchesne, 2005; Hazlett et al., 2011), and the number of parvalbumin interneurons in medial prefrontal cortex is lower than in their peers from control group (Hashemi et al., 2017). Also, spatial organization of microglia around neurons found in dorsolateral prefrontal cortex is altered (J. T. Morgan et al., 2012) although Courchesne (Courchesne et al., 2011) showed that the number of other glia cells does not differ from the amount reported in control groups.

Since the main source of emotional information in humans comes from perception of others peoples' faces (Klingner & Guntinas-Lichius, 2023) researchers focused on the fusiform face area, a brain region belonging to the visual system which is selectively activated by faces (Kanwisher et al., 1997). Data from functional magnetic resonance shows lowered activity of this area during face processing in ASD patients (Bölte et al., 2006) which is attributed to less dense layer III neurons found in this structure. Other parts of the visual pathway seem to not differ compared to the control group (Uppal et al., 2014).

Another key structure in ASD research is the anterior insular cortex, an area involved in emotional processing and awareness of oneself and others (Gu et al., 2013). Von Economo cells are large bipolar cells found in the fifth layer of the ACC (Nimchinsky et al., 1999) and its postulated role is the involvement in social cognition and self-identity (Allman et al., 2005, 2010; Seeley, 2010). Interestingly, patients with ASD have been reported to have more von Economo cells in the ACC and their placement (in the sixth layer and white matter) was unusual (Allman et al., 2005).

The hippocampus and the amygdala are major areas involved in emotional processing and the formation of memory necessary for proper social behavior. People suffering from Fragile X Syndrome, prevailing single-gene cause of Autism, have been found to have focal thickening of hippocampal CA1 and altered neurons (cells were misplaced and had wrong orientation) in the dentate gyrus (Greco et al., 2011). ASD patients were reported to have more densely packed interneurons in the hippocampus (Lawrence et al., 2010) and swollen axon terminal in the entorhinal cortex and CA subfields (Weidenheim et al., 2001). In case of the amygdala, people with ASD have smaller amygdalar nuclei and at the same time higher cell density (Bauman & Kemper, 1985; Kemper & Bauman, 1993). More recent studies showed significant decrease in neuronal numbers in the amygdala, especially in the lateral nuclei (Morgan et al., 2014; Schumann & Amaral, 2006).

Due to small sample sizes, heterogeneity of groups, limitations of human imaging tools and correlational nature of these findings we must be careful with drawing conclusions. It is also important to note that the vast majority of studies performed on humans have been done *post mortem* which may not reflect organization of the living brain, but with advancing modern imaging technologies scientists should soon be able to better pinpoint neuronal characteristic of this disease.

1.3.2. Mouse model used in this study

People with Fragile X Syndrome are often (up to 30% comorbidity) co-diagnosed with ASD. FXS is a result of an expanded CGG repeat in fragile mental retardation 1 gene which causes shortage or even lack of FMR1 protein. FMR1 protein is a RNA transporter, which regulates translation process during synaptic plasticity and development (Hagerman et al., 2010). People with FXS suffer, among others, from hyperactivity, repetitive behaviors, social difficulties and seizures - effects which can be reproduced in animal research using FMR1 KO mouse model, which is commonly used in research of neuronal correlates of autism (Chen & Toth, 2001; "Fmr1 Knockout Mice: A Model to Study Fragile X Mental Retardation. The Dutch-Belgian Fragile X Consortium.," 1994; Hayashi et al., 2007; Spencer et al., 2011; Yan et al., 2004). When trying to find brain mechanisms responsible for this disease scientists focused on synaptic connections, especially dendritic spines. What was found is that brains of FXS patients studied post mortem revealed less mushroom-shaped spines and higher number of long dendritic spines, usually associated with immature synaptic connections (Rudelli et al., 1985; Wisniewski et al., 1991). Similar abnormalities in spine structure were observed in FMR1 KO mouse models (Comery et al., 1997; Irwin et al., 2000). Interestingly, when researchers used pharmacological intervention aimed at maturation of long-filipodia shaped spines, along with more mature dendritic spines phenotypic deficits were rescued in knockout mice (Dolan et al., 2013; Puścian et al., 2022). Another common feature between human patients and the animal model is bigger relative volume of white matter in FMR KO mice, which may reflect altered connectivity found in people (Lai et al., 2016). Macroorchidism, a common trait found in males, especially children suffering from FXS is also replicated in FMR1 KO strain ("Fmr1 Knockout Mice: A Model to Study Fragile X Mental Retardation. The Dutch-Belgian Fragile X Consortium.," 1994). When it comes to the immune system FMR1 KO mice do not have a distinct profile of immune genes expression compared to WT strain (Hodges et al., 2017; Kong et al., 2014) but it was reported that microglia of FMR1 KO mice produces higher proinflammatory and phagocytic response as a result of lipopolysaccharide treatment (Parrott et al., 2021). Similar to ASD patients it was reported that in FMR1 KO2 strain mice had altered gut micriobiome compared to their WT littermates (Altimiras et al., 2021). Examples provided in this chapter validate the use of FMR1 KO model in ASD research.

1.3.3. Autism Spectrum Disorder diagnosis

Since ASD is currently diagnosed only with observation-based criteria by qualified psychiatrists many researchers pursue a way to find a reliable and reproducible biological marker for ASD. Several research groups postulate that ASD may be diagnosed by specific profile of upregulated pro-inflammatory cytokines and downregulated anti-inflammatory cytokines found in the brain (Ashwood et al., 2011; Krakowiak et al., 2017; Masi et al., 2017). Schielen et al in their MRI-based research and meta-analysis of over 130 studies found that ASD identification done this way can be performed with 76% sensivity and 75,7% specifity (Schielen et al., 2024).

Screening for genetic mutations is still the most common attempt to find a biomarker of ASD. Usually, individuals with ASD have their genome sequenced, which is then compared with neurotypical (preferably someone of kin) genome to find differences. Next, identified mutations are being studied in animal models in a variety of ways.

1.4. How emotional contagion can be studied

1.4.1. c-Fos as a neuronal novelty marker

The *c-fos* gene is a member of a group of genes called the immediate-early genes (IEG). These genes are characterized by swift activation, in a matter of minutes, without the need of protein synthesis *de novo* after cell stimulation. Products of IEG are transcription factors that control expression of all kinds of genes which play a role in cell functioning (Gallo et al., 2018; Herdegen & Leah, 1998). Protein encoded by *c-fos* can be found in cell nuclei (Curran et al., 1984) and thanks to leucine zipper domain it can form heterodimers with other products of IEG. The most prominent example would be the combination with proteins from the Jun family which creates a transcription factor called Activator Protein-1 (AP-1) (Chiu et al., 1988; Pennypacker, 1995). The AP-1 transcription factor regulates a variety of target genes, such as

nerve growth factor, prodynorphin, neurotensin and neuropeptide Y, involved in cell functioning (Karin et al., 1997).

After discovering that rising levels of c-Fos are correlated with cell activity (J. I. Morgan et al., 1987), and knowing that baselines protein levels are low, induction of c-Fos began to be used as a marker for neuronal activation. Expression of c-Fos protein peaks at around 90 minutes and returns to baseline levels after about 6 hours (Nikolaev et al., 1991). Its expression is mainly induced by novel stimuli and during learning of behavioral tasks. During habituation to repetitive stimuli the responses are decreasing (Nikolaev et al., 1992). Interestingly, a change in context (different light conditions/scent) again triggers high c-Fos expression even in animals which had learned the task and their c-Fos levels have already decreased (Knapska et al., 2006; Nikolaev et al., 1992). Importantly, it was observed that just re-exposure to the cage where training took place can induce c-Fos expression even thirty-one days after training (Frankland et al., 2004). Martinez et al (Martinez et al., 2013) observed that animals which performed better in the active avoidance test had higher c-Fos levels in the amygdala and prefrontal cortex than conspecifics which carried the task out poorly. Although there is no clear correlation of c-Fos levels with spontaneous neuron activity measured, for example, by calcium imaging (Peter et al., 2013) it was shown that c-Fos can be induced by a variety of behavioral stimuli in a vast majority of brain structures: cortex, hippocampus, amygdala, cerebellum, striatum or thalamus (Carretta et al., 1999; Heurteaux et al., 1993; Kaczmarek & Nikołajew, 1990; Paban et al., 1999; Tischmeyer et al., 1990). Blocking of c-Fos expression in mouse auditory cortex, using short hairpin RNA sequences, can impair rodent ability to distinguish sounds while other learning tasks, independent of auditory cues, and basal neuronal activity remain intact (de Hoz et al., 2017). Suggesting that c-Fos expression is causally linked to the neuronal plasticity. Similar approach to test local c-Fos inhibition was taken by several research groups. They used ACO the of *c-fos* antisense oligonucleotide which blocks *c-fos* expression. (Guzowski, 2002) and (Kemp et al., 2013) showed that inhibiting c-Fos in rat hippocampus can impair spatial longterm memory.

The data presented here indicate that measuring and manipulating c-Fos levels can be an useful tool for studying the involvement of a given brain structure in a task or process. Since many things can increase c-Fos levels it is crucial to include proper habituation prior to commencement of the experiment into the protocol, so that measured c-Fos levels reflect only the investigated process.

Nevertheless c-Fos is still one of the most prominent tools used in neuroscience to investigate various aspects of brain functioning (Appleyard, 2009). Another way to utilize *c*-*fos* is to establish various viral vectors working under *c*-*fos* promoter for opto and chemogenetic manipulation. Using optogenetics under *c*-*fos* promotor (Cowansage et al., 2014) showed that for acquisition and reactivation of contextual memories are responsible c-Fos expressing neurons in retrosplenial cortex, while (Liu et al., 2012) reported that c-Fos tagged neurons during fear learning when artificially activated in different context, evoked fear response. Recently with the use of before mentioned methods, differences in neural circuits controlling social interaction and food motivation in rats were discovered (Rojek-Sito et al., 2023).

2. Aims of the thesis

Neuronal correlates of empathy and Autism Spectrum Disorder, even though intensively investigated, are still unclear. The aim of this study was to enhance our understanding of these phenomena.

The first goal of the study was to assess emotional contagion abilities of mice with a full knockout of the Fragile X Messenger Ribonucleoprotein 1 (FMRP). This mouse strain is used as a mouse model for the most common monogenic form of ASD. To do that I employed Remote Transfer of Fear Paradigm which verifies whether the altered emotional state of Demonstrator, can be detected by the Observer through social interactions in the safe environment of the home cage. To verify whether such transfer is affected by the sex the studies were conducted on both males and females.

The second objective of the project was to establish novel, more accurate and efficient way to score behavioral data on freely moving animals. Until now, most of the automatic tracking used for assessment of emotional contagion was done on one animal at a time or in way that would prohibit the animals to freely interact with each other. This was mainly due to difficulties with establishing and maintaining proper identity of animals throughout prolonged recordings. To overcome these obstacles, state-of-the-art software which utilized machine learning approach for tracking (DLC) and creating classifiers (SimBA) were used.

The last aim of this dissertation was to check if potential changes in the behavior of Observers would be reflected in the neuronal activation pattern and whether it would resemble that of the Demonstrators. Brain activity of Demonstrators and Observers was assessed by measuring c-Fos levels in both amygdala and prefrontal cortex, structures involved in emotional processing.

3. Methods

3.1. Animals

Research was conducted on FMR1 KO mice of the FVB strain (FVB.129P-Fmr1tm1Rbd/J) and respective littermate controls which were bred at University of Warsaw breeding facility. Males and females of approximately 3 months of age were used. Animals were housed in standard conditions under 12h light/dark cycle with *ad libitum* access to water and food (standard laboratory chow). Prior to the habituation phase, mice stayed in cohorts consisting of 8-12 animals. Experimental procedures were conducted during the day in light phase. All of the experiments were carried out in accordance with the Local Ethical Committee (permission LKE 504/2018).

3.2. Behavioral paradigm

3.2.1. Habituation

Approximately three weeks prior to commencement of habituation phase mice were assigned to pairs mostly based on weight and familiarity (brothers or sisters from the same litter) to minimize the chance of aggression. Animals were checked daily and in case of aggression - separated and excluded from the experiment.

During the first three days of habituation the experimenter was putting hands in the home cage for about one minute and tried to gently lift the mouse up by the tail into the palm of the hand. Over the next 7 days the animals were transported to the experimental room and the procedure described in Kondrakiewicz (Kondrakiewicz et al., 2019) was followed. At first mice were left in the experimental room for about one hour while all of the necessary equipment such as the Conditioning chamber, PC and recording hardware were turned on. Then, one the first day, one of the mice was randomly assigned as a Demonstrator and had its tail marked by a marker consecutively on each day. After that the Demonstrator was taken out from the home cage and put into the new cage which was then placed in the conditioning chamber, while the remaining mouse in the home cage - the Observer was taken to the adjacent room. It is essential that the Observer is not able to hear, smell or see the Demonstrator while they are separated. After 5 minutes the Demonstrator was placed back into the home cage with the Observer and 9

minutes of their interactions were recorded. Later, mice were put in another room and this cycle was repeated for the next pair of mice. After all pairs were done with their habituation sessions they were left for approximately 30 mins in the room and then transported back into the housing facility.

3.2.2. Remote Transfer of Fear paradigm

On the Test Day half of the animals were assigned to the Control group in which animals were treated exactly as in previous days during habituation and the second half into the Experimental group in which Demonstrators were subjected to aversive stimuli while being separated from the Observer. In the Experimental group after the Demonstrator was taken from the home cage it was put into the conditioning apparatus and subjected to a series of aversive stimuli (90s habituation followed by ten 1-s, 0.6-mA shocks with 30-s intervals). Every step prior and after that was the same as in the Control group. Ninety minutes after the start of the interaction between mice (moment when the Demonstrator was put back into the home cage after separation/foot shocks) animals were sacrificed and standard perfusion procedure was carried out.

3.3. Scoring behavioral data

3.3.1. DeepLabCut and Simple Behavioral Analysis

Manual scoring of data is extremely laborious and prone to human error. For this reason, I decided to develop a way to make this process as automatic as possible. To do that I used software for markerless pose estimation based on deep neuronal network learning - DeepLabCut (DLC) (Mathis et al., 2018). Recent DeepLabcut updates offer a possibility to automatically quantify behavior from over 45 species with already pre-trained models (Ye et al., 2024). In my study I employed multi-animal pose estimation DeepLabCut, one of the very first pieces of software enabling markerless behavior tracking of at least two freely moving animals (Lauer et al., 2022). Another software used in my experiments was SimBA (Simple Behavioral Analysis), an open source toolkit for computer classification of complex social behaviors (Nilsson et al., 2020). It utilizes pose-estimation obtained by other tools to generate

supervised machine learning predictive classifiers of rodent social behavior. Both of these tools do not require specific video annotation, have user-friendly interface and can be used on almost any video quality. Importantly, the two models which I created for the purpose of this study can be quite easily used in different experiments employing different mouse strains. After only small re-teaching with the use of approximately 500 frames for DLC and from a hundred to a few thousands frames (depending on the behavior) for simBA both models started to work on video recordings of black mouse interactions, which I successfully used in another project.

In my experiments I focused on several behaviors namely:

- 1. Sniffing of the Demonstrator's anogential area by the Observer
- 2. Sniffing of the Demonstrator's body by the Observer
- 3. Rearing of the Demonstrator and the Observer
- 4. Digging in bedding by the Demonstrator and the Observer
- 5. Self-grooming of the Demonstrator and the Observer

Manually scored data was necessary for creation and validation of two models based on supervised machine learning. One for automatic pose estimation and second one for automatic classification and recognition of animal behavior patterns. These models are going to be thoroughly described in the following sections.

3.3.2. Manual scoring

To score data by hand Behaview software (created by Paweł Boguszewski) was used. In this scenario we assessed 8 different, previously mentioned, behaviors: Sniffing the Demonstrator's anogenital area by the Observer, Sniffing the Demonstrator body by the Observer, Rearing, Digging in bedding and Self-grooming for both animals. This method requires a manual review of the movie to check if desired behaviors were present. If so, start and end of behavior is marked by pressing the appropriate button on the keyboard. Movies were analyzed with the temporal precision of 1/5 second.



Figure 1. Screenshot of the BehaView software used for manual behavior annotation. Video depicts the Observer sniffing the Demonstrators anogenital area.

3.3.3. Automatic scoring

Since behavior was done over a prolonged period of time and various setups for recording were used, quality of movies differed between sets of experiments. At first movies had to be trimmed to have the exact same length of 9 minutes, cropped so that every movie showed only the home cage and its immediate surroundings (in case mice should climb the walls) and the movie format had to be unified. Trimming was done using the SimBA tool to pre-process videos while the other processes were done with the ffmpeg codecs package. After movies were made as uniform as possible and sets of example videos were loaded into the DLC the process, described thoroughly below, to make markerless post estimation began. After the DLC model was established, videos were analyzed with this model and resulting data was used for creating a SimBA model. Working SimBA model provides detailed behavioral data which was then analyzed using Excel and Prism software.

3.3.3.1. DeepLabCut

First step is to create the project with example data - a few chosen videos from the experiment. As mentioned in previous chapters I used a multi-animal project since it is suitable for at least two freely moving animals. All settings were stored in a config file (config.yaml). Example file can be found on GitHub (https://github.com/GozuNaz/phd) These include:

- identity set to "true" (so that model will learn that both mice are separate animals)
- individuals set to "Dem", "Obs" (ID of animals)
- multianimalbodyparts set to (parts of the body which will be labelled)
 - o "Ear_left"
 - o "Ear_right"
 - o "Nose"
 - o "Center"
 - "Lateral_left"
 - o "Lateral_right"
 - "Tail_base"
 - "Tail_end"
- Remaining parameters were left as default

Next step was to extract example frames from the movies on which relevant bodyparts were going to be manually marked by the experimenter. Frames were extracted with the automatic kmeans algorithm with 1 cluster step. Then, in the labelling step, on each frame every



Figure 2. Example of a labeled movie frame.

body part had to be labeled for Demonstrator and Observer separately which is shown on Figure 2.

When all frames were labeled, a Training Dataset was created and then the training of the neuronal network started. Few parameters were tested to finally choose the following:

- Save number of iterations 10000
- Maximum iterations **100000**
- Number of network snapshots to keep 10

Next step was to evaluate the trained model. To do that, DLC generated images with labels marked by the experimenter and ones predicted by model (see on the **Figure 3**). Average distance between them in pixels was also provided by the software. Then, in the next step, which was performed with default settings, DLC transformed predicted labels into pose estimation data which was then visualized on movies. This way, the final step of the evaluation was performed. If the data was not good enough, either parameters were changed, or more labeled data was given for training. In the end the model was established using 1600 frames total from 39 different example movies.



Figure 3. Example of comparison between manually labeled bodyparts and ones predicted by model.

After evaluation and validation, the model was run on all movies which resulted in pose estimation data for each video. After that, each movie was also manually inspected to check if DLC did not switch the ID of the animals or if there is any mislabeled data. In such cases, it had to be manually corrected. After completion of this process the movies with pose estimation tracking data were ready to be used in the second step - SimBA analysis.



Figure 4. Frame from analyzed video with imposed tracking data.

3.3.3.2. SimBA

At first, example videos with their tracking data from DLC were loaded into a new SimBA project. The new project required the manual input of the eight predictive classifiers, Type of Tracking (chosen as Multi Tracking) and the number of bodyparts marked. It was crucial to choose the same points for bodypart labeling as the latter had to match the number used in the DLC analysis. Then, the width of the cage was provided into software for calibration of the ratio of millimeters per pixels for each video. Next, outliers correction was done by SimBA algorithm, with parameters:

Movement criterion: 1

Location criterion: 1.5

From nose to tail_end

Afterwards, for every movie an extraction of features was performed.

Then I proceeded to annotate the presence of a given behavior in every frame to build data for SimBA to learn from. To accelerate the process, all behaviors of interest were annotated with the use of Behaview, and then with the script created by Konrad Danielewski (https://github.com/KonradDanielewski/SEBA), behavior data was made to fit SimBa dataset. Afterwards the Machine Models were trained and classifiers for each of eight behaviors were created. At the end, the model was trained on approximately 4000 to even 38000 frames depending on the behavior.

The process of validating the model consisted of comparing manually scored data with SimBA output. First, the data from the learning set was compared. After achieving compliance of about 98% movies which were not included in learning dataset were compared.

3.4. Tissue preparation

90 minutes after the onset of the test session standard perfusion procedure was conducted. At first, animals were anesthetized with isoflurane (5% in air) followed by an overdose of Morbital (ip, 133.3 mg/ml sodium pentobarbital, 26.7 mg/ml pentobarbital). Mice were then transcardially perfused with ice-cold Phospate Buffer Saline (PBS, pH=7.4) followed by 4% paraformaldehyde in PBS. After that the brains were removed and kept in 4% paraformaldehyde overnight in 4°C. Later brains were transferred to 30% sucrose solution in PBS and were kept in the fridge until sinking. The next step was to freeze brains with the use of dry ice and then store them in the -80°C freezer. Finally, the brains were cut at the cryostat into 40 μ m coronal sections and then kept in the PBS with the sodium azide. For the immunostaining slices containing the amygdala (AP -1.58) and the prefrontal cortex (AP +1.70) were chosen (Paxinos & Franklin, 2019).

3.5. Immunostaining

The immunostaining was performed on free-floating coronal brain sections. Firstly sections were incubated in PBS (pH 7.45, Gibco #18912014) overnight at 4°C and then washed three times with fresh PBS. After that, sections were incubated in blocking solution consisting of 5% NGS (Normal Goat Serum, Vector Laboratories, #S-1000-20) in PBST (0.02% Triton X-100, Chempur #498418109) for 90 minutes. Next, slices were incubated with a primary antibody (anti-c-Fos, 1:1000, Millipore #ABE457) in PBST (0.02% Triton X-100, Chempur
#498418109) and 2% NGS for 48h at 4°C. Then, brain sections were washed 3 times with PBST and incubated with secondary antibody (anti-rabbit conjugated Alexa594, 1:1.000, Invitrogen #A32740) in PBST for 2h in Room Temperature. In the next step, sections were washed again three Times with PBS. Finally, brain slices were mounted on sides and coverslipped with Fluoromount (Sigma #F4680-25ML). Sections were imaged with the use of Nikon microscope (Nikon Eclipse Ni) and Image-Pro Plus 7.0.1.658 (Media Cybernetics) software.

3.6. c-Fos analysis

In order to make the process of counting less prone to error, a special protocol was established. At first images were duplicated. In the duplicate, with the use of the ImageJ tool for removing outliers (remove bright outliers) c-Fos positive cells (bright dots on the image) were removed leaving only the background. Then, using an image calculator tool in the ImageJ the background photo was subtracted from the original one, leaving just c-Fos cells with a uniform background. Next, the threshold was applied to mark only c-Fos cells (to get rid of some non-specific signal), desired ROIs were marked, and the ImageJ software counted the number of cells and the area of the given ROIs. To speed up the procedure, a special macro was written (with the help of Kacper Łukasiewicz) to make this process semi-automatic - only the ROIs were marked manually. Based on the calibration measuring ruler dimensions in pixels the area of ROIs was then converted to mm².

Here are the example steps of how macro worked and how parameters were checked that they are well chosen.



Figure 5. Figure represents steps of image analysis.

The steps described above are all presented in **Figures 5 and 6**. In panel A there is the original photo, while on panel B there is background photo. On panel C we can see only c-Fos positive cells, which are thresholded on panel D. To assess the desired ROI ImageJ sync tool was used, to simultaneously mark BLA on the original and the thresholded photo. On panel G, below, we can observe examples of the points the script marked as c-Fos positive nuclei.



Figure 6. Final review of script.

3.7. Statistical analysis

3.7.1. Statisitical tests

Statistical analysis was done using the GraphPad Prism 10 software (*GraphPad*). All of the behavior data were checked for normal distribution with the Shapiro-Wilk test. Since the distribution of data was often not normal, non-parametric approach was chosen. Analysis of between genotype and experimental condition effects was done with the use of Kruskal - Wallis test with post-hoc Dunn's multiple comparison test. For c-Fos analysis Mixed-effects with post-hoc Tukey's multiple comparison test was used. Analyses were done within sex and Demonstrator or Observer groups. Analysis of the dynamics of behaviors was conducted using the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test. For correlation measurements between Demonstrator and Observer the Pearson coefficients were calculated.

Due to the technical reasons some of the brain tissue from males was lost and the experiment had to be repeated. Since there was no statistical difference between the two batches we decided to pool the behavioral data together for these groups.

Group	Males		Females	
	Behavior	Fos	Behavior	Fos
CTRL_KO	11 pairs	6 pairs	8 pairs	8 pairs
EXP_KO	13 pairs	7 pairs	8 pairs	8 pairs
CTRL_WT	10 pairs	4 pairs	7 pairs	7 pairs
EXP_WT	11 pairs	4 pairs	8 pairs	8 pairs

4. Results

4.1. A comparison of manual vs. automatic behavior analysis

Methods used in this thesis, namely DLC and SimBA analysis, were refined on the pretrained models available in software packages and before they were used on the whole set of data, they had to be validated. To do that I compared behavior data scored manually with the data analyzed with DLC and SimBA. On the graph presented below we can observe that both methods resulted in similar outcomes regarding the number and duration of anogenital sniffing (**Figure 7 A** and **C**) and body sniffing (**Figure 7 B** and **D**) performed by Observers towards Demonstrators regardless of the genotype.



Figure 7. Comparison between behavioral results scored by SimBa and manually. WT - Wild Type genotype, KO - Knockout genotype, CTRL - Control group, EXP - Experimental group. Sniffing behavior provided on graphs represents sniffing of Observers towards Demonstrators. All data are shown as mean \pm s.e.m, dots represent each individual.

I also proved that both methods of scoring behavior resulted in similar outcomes regarding the number and duration of Demonstrator Rearing (**Figure 8 A** and **C**) and Observer Rearing (**Figure 8 B** and **D**) regardless of the genotype



Figure 8. Comparison between behavioral results scored by SimBa and manually. WT - Wild Type genotype, KO - Knockout genotype, CTRL - Control group, EXP - Experimental group. Exploratory behavior provided on graph represents Rearing of Demonstrators and Observers. All data are shown as mean \pm s.e.m, dots represent each individual.

Similar results were shown for stereotypic behaviors (Figure 9), for the number and duration of Demonstrator Selfgrooming (A and C) and Observer Selfgrooming (B and D). Here as well obtained results were matching each other.



Figure 9. Comparison between behavioral results scored by SimBa and manually. WT - Wild Type genotype, KO - Knockout genotype, CTRL - Control group, EXP - Experimental group. Stereotypic behavior provided on graph represents Selfgrooming of Demonstrators and Observers. All data are shown as mean \pm s.e.m, dots represent each individual.

Figure 10 depicts data for another stereotypic behavior - digging in bedding. The number and duration of Demonstrator Digging (A and C) and Observer Digging (B and D) acquired by both methods was matching.

Demonstrator Digging

Observer Digging



Figure 10. Comparison between behavioral results scored by SimBa and manually. WT - Wild Type genotype, KO - Knockout genotype, CTRL - Control group, EXP - Experimental group. Stereotypic behavior provided on graphs represents digging of Observers towards Demonstrators. All data are shown as mean \pm s.e.m, dots represent each individual.

4.2. Behavior

4.2.1. Social sniffing

In this and following sections presented data were obtained using SimBA software only. Graphs on **Figure 11** show data from social exploratory behavior, which may represent social interest in another conspecific. There was no significant difference in the anogenital sniffing in the number of events (**A**), their total duration (**C**) and mean duration of a event (**E**) between the control and the experimental group regardless of genotype and sex. In the case of sniffing of the Demonstrator body by the Observer I noticed that the KO male Observers from the Experimental group did not sniff more than their peers in the control group contrary to the WT males (**D**), in females I noticed an increase of interest towards the stressed mate in both genotypes (**D**). No significant differences were observed in the number of events (**B**) and the mean duration of an event (**F**). Analysis was done with the use of non-parametric Kruskal - Wallis test with post-hoc Dunn's multiple comparison test, * corresponds to p<0.05.



Figure 11. Social exploratory behavior. WT - Wild Type genotype, KO - Knockout genotype, CTRL - Control group, EXP - Experimental group. Sniffing behavior provided on graphs represents sniffing of Observers towards Demonstrators. All data are shown as mean \pm s.e.m, dots represent each individual.

4.2.1.1. Dynamics of social behaviors

Since there was little amount of anogenital sniffing and there were no differences in the mean amount of this behavior between groups I decided to investigate sniffing behavior more closely. One of the benefits of SimBA analysis over manually scored behavior is the possibility of plotting behavior over time with the resolution of one second. This approach gives us crucial information about the dynamics of the behavior, not only the total amount of it. On **Figure 12** The Observer Sniffing towards the Demonstrator is plotted over the whole duration of recorded interactions. Interestingly, we can observe that almost all of the anogenital sniffing behavior is happening right after the Demonstrator is put back into the home cage regardless of the experimental group, genotype or sex. We can also observe, that for body sniffing, right after anogenital sniffing ends, Observers that interacted with stressed demonstrator, except for KO males group, sniffed more.



Figure 12. Distribution of sniffing behavior over time. WT - Wild Type genotype, KO - Knockout genotype, CTRL - Control group, EXP - Experimental group. Sniffing behavior provided on graphs represents sniffing of Observers towards Demonstrators over nine minutes of recorded interactions. Each vertical line represents one second, while color intensity codes duration of measured behavior in a given second.

4.2.2. Exploration

When the mice do not engage in social contacts, they patrol the home cage in search for more clues which could inform them about the potential danger (especially pertinent in case of the EXP group). Graphs on **Figure 13** show data from rearing behavior, a widespread exploratory behavior which is used to gather information about the environment. There were

no significant differences in rearing of Demonstrators and Observers in the number of events (A, B), duration (C, D) and mean duration of each event (E, F) between control and experimental group regardless of genotype and sex. Analysis was done with the use of non-parametric Kruskal - Wallis test with post-hoc Dunn's multiple comparison test.



Figure 13. Exploratory behavior. WT - Wild Type genotype, KO - Knockout genotype, CTRL - Control group, EXP - Experimental group. Rearing behavior provided on graphs represents rearing of Observer and Demonstrator. All data are shown as mean \pm s.e.m, dots represent each individual.

48

4.2.2.1. Rearing dynamics

On Figure 14 Rearing of Demonstrators and Observers is shown in the course of nine minutes of interactions. We can observe that among Observers males from WT group rear less at the beginning of social interactions (**B**), a similar effect can be noticed in females in both genotypes (**D**). What is worth noticing is that in females in WT experimental group (**D**) there is a peak of rearing activity after sniffing behavior is over, which may indicate that this is a reaction to information from the stressed cage mate. No such peak is observed in the KO females. Looking at Demonstrators rearing pattern (**A**, **C**) it looks similar in all groups.



Figure 14. Rearing behavior dynamics. WT - Wild Type genotype, KO - Knockout genotype, CTRL - Control group, EXP - Experimental group. Rearing behavior provided on graphs represents Rearing of Observers and Demonstrators over nine minutes of recorded interactions. Each vertical line represents one second, while color intensity codes duration of measured behavior in a given second. Three stars corresponds to p<0.0005 between WT_EXP and KO_EXP group.

4.2.3. Stereotypic behavior

Autism Spectrum Disorder is often characterized with the occurrence of stereotypies. Fragile X patients often exhibit stereotypic and self-injurious behaviors, starting at the age of 12-15 months (Hessl et al., 2008; Neri, 2017; D. Zhang et al., 2018). Here I assessed digging in the bedding performed by both animals as a potentially stereotypic coping response. On **Figure 15** I show that there were no significant differences between groups. What is worth noticing is that there is a tendency for lower amounts of digging in the EXP group in male Demonstrators (**A**, **C**) and female Observers from both genotypes (**B**, **D**). Analysis was done with the use of non-parametric Kruskal - Wallis test with post-hoc Dunn's multiple comparison test.



Figure 15. Stereotypic behavior. WT - Wild Type genotype, KO - Knockout genotype, CTRL - Control group, EXP - Experimental group. Digging behavior provided on graphs represents digging of Observer and Demonstrator. All data are shown as mean \pm s.e.m, dots represent each individual.

Another example of a stereotypic behavior which I assessed is selfgrooming of both Demonstrators and Observers. **Figure 16** shows self-grooming data and in the case of Demonstrators there were no significant differences noticed in the number of events (A), duration of behavior (C) and mean duration of an event (E). There was also no distinction in the number of events in male and female Observers from either group (B) but we could see that

female Observers from experimental KO group (**D**) self-groomed more than their peers from the experimental WT group. Analysis was done with the use of non-parametric Kruskal - Wallis test with post-hoc Dunn's multiple comparison test, * corresponds to p<0.05.



Figure 16. Stereotypic behavior. WT - Wild Type genotype, KO - Knockout genotype, CTRL - Control group, EXP - Experimental group. Self-grooming behavior provided on graphs represents selfgrooming of Observers and Demonstrators. All data are shown as mean \pm s.e.m, dots represent each individual.

52

4.2.3.1. The dynamics of stereotypic behaviors

The dynamics of stereotypic behaviors clearly shows that they occur after the initial bout of social investigation (especially sniffing of the anogenital regions). **Figure 17** shows distribution of very sparse episodes of digging behavior performed by male Demonstrators (**A**) and female Demonstrators (**C**). In the case of Observers we can see that KO females from the control group display more profound digging behavior (**D**) compared to other female groups. Observer males had a similar digging pattern across all groups (**B**). We can also see an overall pattern that animals from EXP groups dig less.



Figure 17. Digging behavior dynamics. WT - Wild Type genotype, KO - Knockout genotype, CTRL - Control group, EXP - Experimental group. Digging behavior provided on graphs represents Digging of Observers and Demonstrators over nine minutes of recorded interactions. Each vertical line represents one second, while color intensity codes duration of measured behavior in a given second.

The dynamics of self-grooming reveal a less pronounced pattern. Male (**Figure 18 A**) and female (**C**) Demonstrators self-groom in a similar way in control and experimental groups. In the case of male Observers (**B**) we also can see a similar distribution of behavior during 9 minutes of recording, while in female Observers, I noticed that after the initial part (when mice focus primarily on sniffing behavior) (**Figure 16 D**) there was an increase in self grooming in Observers from the KO experimental group, which was not observed in WT experimental group (**D**).



Figure 18. The dynamics of selfgrooming behavior. WT - Wild Type genotype, KO - Knockout genotype, CTRL - Control group, EXP - Experimental group. Graphs represents Selfgrooming of Observers and Demonstrators over nine minutes of recorded interactions. Each vertical line represents one second, while color intensity codes duration of measured behavior in a given second. Four stars correspond to p<0.0001 between WT_EXP and KO_EXP group.

I also wanted to assess if there was any synchronization of behaviors between the Demonstrator and the Observer and to do that, I measured correlation between total time spent on a given behavior within each pair of animals. I calculated Pearson coefficient and plotted them in heatmaps in which the value is color coded and, * corresponds to p<0.05, ** corresponds to p<0.01. First I checked the exploratory behavior - rearing (**Figure 19**) and the only significant strong positive correlation (0.89) was found between Demonstrator and Observers in males from the WT Experimental group. No correlation in rearing behavior was found in females or other groups of males.



Figure 19. Correlation of rearing behavior between the Demonstrator and the Observer. WT - Wild Type genotype, KO - Knockout genotype, CTRL - Control group, EXP - Experimental group. Two stars corresponds to p < 0.01.

Then I measured the correlation of the Demonstrator and the Observer stereotypic behavior - digging in bedding (**Figure 20**). Significant positive correlation was found only in KO males in the experimental group and no other examples of behavior synchrony was observed in other groups.

Males digging



Figure 20. Correlation of digging behavior between the Demonstrator and the Observer. WT - Wild Type genotype, KO - Knockout genotype, CTRL - Control group, EXP - Experimental group. One star corresponds to p < 0.05.

Another stereotypic behavior which I assessed was the selfgrooming behavior (**Figure 21**). There was a positive correlation between Demonstrator and Observer in both males and females from KO strain in the experimental group. This effect was not observed in control groups or in WT strain regardless of sex.



Figure 21. Correlation of selfgrooing behavior between the Demonstrator and the Observer. WT - Wild Type genotype, KO - Knockout genotype, CTRL - Control group, EXP - Experimental group. Two starts corresponds to p < 0.01.

4.2.4. Locomotor activity

Another important aspect of mouse behavior which may influence the total amount of specific, directed behaviors is the activity of the animals. Here I checked if there were any differences in overall locomotor activity measured by Total distance (\mathbf{A}, \mathbf{B}) , Mean Velocity of

animal (C, D) and Mean Distance between the Demonstrator and the Observer (E, F) between control and experimental group and I did not see any differences. Analysis was done with the use of non-parametric Kruskal - Wallis test with post-hoc Dunn's multiple comparison test.



Figure 22. Locomotor activity. WT - Wild Type genotype, KO - Knockout genotype, CTRL - Control group, EXP - Experimental group. Rearing behavior provided on graphs represents rearing of Observer and Demonstrator. All data are shown as mean \pm s.e.m, dots represent each individual.

4.3. Neuronal activation pattern (c-Fos expression)4.3.1. The Amygdala

To assess which brain structures may constitute parts of the neural circuitry involved in controlling emotional contagion occurring during the Remote Fear Transfer the number of c-Fos positive nuclei was counted in the amygdalar complex and the prefrontal cortex. These brain areas were chosen as being active during Remote Transfer of Fear in our previous study done with a normo-social strain of mice - c57BL/6J mice (Meyza et al., 2015). For the analysis of the activation patterns in the amygdalar complex I considered separately: the basolateral, the central (divided into centromedial and centrolateral), and the medial nuclei. For the medial prefrontal region, I calculated the numbers of c-Fos positive nuclei separately for the prelimbic and the infralimbic cortices.

In line with our expectations, I observed increased c-Fos activity in the medial nuclei of the amygdala in Demonstrators exposed to footshocks (directly experiencing the aversive stimulation, **Figure 23 C**). To our surprise there was no such increase in the basolateral nuclei of the amygdala except in female Demonstrators from KO genotype (**A**). I did not, however, observe an increase in c-Fos labelling in Observers interacting with stressed Demonstrators in either the basolateral or medial part of the amygdala (**B**, **D**).



Observer Amygdala



Figure 23. c-Fos levels in the amygdalar nuclei. WT - Wild Type genotype, KO - Knockout genotype, CTRL - Control group, EXP - Experimental group. Results are presented as density of c-Fos positive nuclei per mm^2 . All data are shown as mean \pm s.e.m, dots represent each individual.

Next, the activity of the centromedial and the centrolateral nuclei was investigated. **Figure 24** shows a rise in c-Fos positive nuclei density in the centromedial nuclei of the KO Demonstrator females from the experimental group compared to the control group. Such effect is not observed in WT females or in males (**A**). Interestingly, there was an increased (as compared to control) activation of the centromedial nuclei of the amygdala in WT Demonstrator males, an effect which was not present in KO males or in females (**C**). In Observer brains I did not observe changed patterns of c-Fos expression regardless of sex and genotype. For statistical analysis Mixed-effects with post-hoc Tukey's multiple comparison test was used, * corresponds to p<0.05.



Figure 24. Number of c-Fos positive nuclei in the central amygdala. WT - Wild Type genotype, KO - Knockout genotype, CTRL - Control group, EXP - Experimental group. Results are presented as density of c-Fos positive nuclei per mm^2 . All data are shown as mean \pm s.e.m, dots represent each individual.

4.3.2. The Prefrontal Cortex

Activity of the prefrontal cortex was scored separately for the prelimbic and infralimbic parts. On **Figure 25** we can see that footshock experienced by female Demonstrators from both genotypes induced an increase in c-Fos levels in both parts of the prefrontal cortex (\mathbf{A}, \mathbf{B}) while in males the effect was not present in the infralimbic cortex of WT Demonstrators and both cortices in KO Demonstrators (\mathbf{A}) . In the case of male Observers there was no increase in neuronal activation of either of the assessed areas (\mathbf{B}, \mathbf{D}) , but what is worth noticing is that there

was a significant increase in the number of c-Fos positive nuclei within the infralimbic part of the prefrontal cortex in female Observers from the Experimental group in both genotypes. Seeing as this parallels the effect in Demonstrators, it may indicate that interaction with a stressed cagemate was enough to trigger c-Fos response (**D**). For statistical analysis Mixed-effects with post-hoc Tukey's multiple comparison test was used, * corresponds to p<0.05, ** corresponds to p<0.001.



Figure 25. c-Fos levels in the prefrontal cortex. WT - Wild Type genotype, KO - Knockout genotype, CTRL - Control group, EXP - Experimental group. Results are presented as density of c-Fos positive nuclei per mm^2 . All data are shown as mean \pm s.e.m, dots represent each individual.

5. Discussion

Emotional contagion is the necessary basis for empathy and thus for high quality social interactions (which can be impaired in people with Autism Spectrum Disorder). Studying this phenomenon gives us an insight into the neuronal mechanism responsible for deficiencies in emotional processing and can help us develop new treatments for Autism Spectrum Disorder. The aim of this study was to assess emotional contagion abilities of mice lacking a functional *FMRP1* gene responsible for controlling synaptic functionality and plasticity (Hou et al., 2006; Huber et al., 2002).

The results obtained here show that male WT Observers were able to detect the change in Demonstrators' emotional state and showed increased sniffing behavior towards it as compared to the Observers from the control group (paired with non-shocked Demonstrators). This confirms the occurrence of emotional contagion in these mice, contrary to their KO peers. KO Observers from the Experimental group did not show an increase in interest in the stressed cage mate. This result is consistent with literature. Moy et al (Moy et al., 2009) showed that animals lacking the *Fmr*1 gene have less preference towards stranger mice in comparison to controls with a functioning gene even though their sociability was not affected.

It is worth mentioning that the team led by Moy in their studies used mice lacking FMR1 protein in two background strains: C57BL/6J and FVB/129. And only the knockout mice on FVB/129 background (also used here) had shown deficits in social preference. Keum et al. (Keum et al., 2016) assessed empathic fear response, by employing Observation Fear Learning paradigm among 11 strains of mice. In this test the Observer through direct witnessing of the Demonstrator being shocked acquires a context-dependent fear response. Observational Fear Learning relies on the assumption that, for Observers to acquire fear response without experiencing a direct foot shock transfer of emotional arousal from Demonstrator has to occur. The degree of such emotional contagion can be measured by measuring freezing response of the Observer (Jeon et al., 2010; Jeon & Shin, 2011). Interestingly, familiarity with the Demonstrator may enhance such empathic response. One of the strains which exhibited high empathic response was C57BL/6J while FVB strain was characterized with low empathic response, which in turn may explain differences between background strain found by Moy group and moderate behavioral effects observed in my study. Empathy differences, assessed by physiological and behavioral responses dependent on strains were also reported by Chen et al

(Chen et al., 2009). In this study C57BL/6J mice were able to acquire Pavlovian association of Conditional Stimuli (tone) to Unconditional Stimuli (foot shock) by only observing object mice being subjected to aversive stimuli while mice from BALB/cJ strain did not develop that association.

As previously mentioned, familiarity may enhance empathic response. Study led by Gonzalez-Liencres (Gonzalez-Liencres et al., 2014) reported that when the Observer is witnessing a cage mate being foot shocked it is more likely to show a freezing response compared to observing a non-familiar mouse. They also reported a correlation in the number of fecal droppings between a familiar Demonstrator and an Observer (as an indication of stress, in comparison to non-cagemate pairs). In my experiments, mice were paired for at least three weeks prior to the onset of behavioral testing to enhance the probability of emotional contagion. The effect of that was clearly seen in females tested in my paradigm. Contrary to males, female Observers from both genotypes detected the change in Demonstrators' emotional state. Observer mice, regardless of genotype, sniffed the body of their stressed cage mate more than the Observers paired with a non-stressed Demonstrator. It is worth noticing that like males, most of the sniffing was performed right after the Demonstrator was put back into the safe environment of the home cage. This was to be expected since mice, even after quite short separation, consider the returning Demonstrator as something novel. In control groups regardless of sex and genotype initial sniffing does not develop into longer bouts of interest in the partner. In the Observers from the Experimental group these were intensified, which suggests that they had to notice the altered emotional state of their partner and continued sniffing to gather more information.

There was a subtle peak of rearing activity in the middle of interaction after the initial sniffing period ends. It is found only in female WT Observers from the Experimental group. One could speculate that this was driven by increased motivation to survey the environment upon receiving information from the stressed partner. No such increase in rearing activity was observed in KO female Observers from the Experimental group. Mice from this group displayed increased stereotypic behavior, namely they self-groomed more. In rodents, self-grooming is usually executed through a steady patterned sequence starting from the nose to the face, later moving to the head and finishing on the body and tail (Kalueff et al., 2016) and its prolonged or distorted occurrence is often linked with repetitive behaviors found in neurodevelopmental disorders such as Autism Spectrum Disorder (Li et al., 2024). Furthermore, grooming behavior is often associated with stress coping (Kalueff & Tuohimaa, 2004, 2005; Spruijt et al., 1992).

It was shown to be elevated after or during exposure to stressful conditions (Spruijt et al., 1992; van Erp et al., 1994). Interestingly, in my study the dynamics histogram of self-grooming behavior showed that it happened after the initial sniffing phase, so after interactions with the stressed Demonstrator. KO females displayed more grooming behavior than their WT counterparts, which could indicate that they responded to detection of the distress of the cage mate with this stress (coping) response. This would be in line with clinical reports showing higher cortisol levels associated with stereotypy in people diagnosed with Autism Spectrum Disorder (De Vaan et al., 2020; Yang et al., 2015). Although it is worth noticing that others have reported that elevated stereotypies are linked to lower levels of cortisol in saline (Gabriels et al., 2013).

Increased grooming behavior may be one of the reasons for higher prefrontal cortex activation since the prefrontal cortex is one of the many brain structures involved in controlling grooming behaviors (Ahmari et al., 2013; Burguière et al., 2013; Pinhal et al., 2018). Since altered levels of grooming behavior may be used as a marker of stress it is not only the amount of grooming but specific changes in grooming sequence (incorrect transitions between body parts) that can be used as a more sophisticated tool to assess stress response in rodents (Kalueff & Tuohimaa, 2004). Thanks to the rapid development of machine learning based tools, it is now possible to assess small changes in behavior on a better time scale and with less effort and more validity. It would be beneficial to check if FMR1 KO mice can be characterized with incorrect sequence of self-grooming. Subtle differences in the dynamics of this behavior suggest further analysis could be informative (e.g. for rearing in WT females from Experimental group). The in-depth insight into the behavioral sequence with the resolution of one second (obtained here thanks to the use of machine learning algorithms for pose assessment and behavior recognition) allowed us to also see that the onset of self-grooming only happens after the initial bout of sniffing and that there is a sequence pattern in mouse behavior worth investigating. Unfortunately, due to the nature of recording (top view of the cage) I was not able to obtain videos from which I would be able to characterize selfgrooming behavior with more detail. To asseas subtle changes of grooming behavior sequence side view of the cage and high resolutions recording would be necessary. A similar approach to interpret behavior by taking into consideration the whole behavior dynamics rather than only the total amount of measured behavior was proposed by Wiltschko (Wiltschko et al., 2015). They suggested that all behavioral bouts happen in sequences and deciphering them could be interpreted as mouse body language.

Emotional contagion is often described as an automatic process dependent upon mimicking behavior of a Demonstrator by the Observer (Iacoboni, 2009; Prochazkova & Kret, 2017). To explore that approach I measured the strength of correlation between total duration of several behaviors within pairs to answer the question whether the display of a certain behavior is manifested by the Demonstrator the Observer would follow. In the case of rearing behavior, I noticed strong positive correlation in males from the experimental WT group, which was not found in control settings. It may suggest the mimickry-like nature of emotional contagion since overall rearing levels did not change between control and experimental group but rearing behavior became more synchronized when the Demonstrator was subjected to footshocks. Since no such increase in sniffing behavior was seen in males from the KO group, we can assume that emotional contagion did not occur, and the lack of synchronization could be expected. But the same was not true when I looked at stereotypic behavior - digging in bedding. I noticed that digging of the Observer from the KO group is correlated with digging of the stressed Demonstrator. That in turn may hint that KO Observers were, to some degree, able to notice the altered emotional state of the Demonstrator. Interestingly in females no correlation in rearing or digging in any of the group was found which is in line with sex differences reported previously for Remote Fear Transfer paradigm (Mikosz et al., 2015).

Next stereotypic behavior which I assessed was the grooming behavior and here I found that there was a strong positive correlation between Demonstrators and Observers from the experimental KO group in both males and females which is not present in control groups or the experimental WT group. Looking at these results from the strain perspective it could be interpreted as an altered response to stressful stimuli. Compared to the WT strain, where the Observer after interactions with a stressed Demonstrator exhibited signs of exploratory behavior (rearing), the KO strain expressed their distress by excessive grooming and/or digging behavior.

Many scientists study emotional contagion with the use of the Observational Fear Learning paradigm. Its primary parameter used to quantify levels of emotional contagion is the freezing response of the Observer during and after witnessing the Demonstrator being subjected to aversive stimuli (foot shocks). The Remote Transfer of Fear paradigm used here does not induce such behavior. Our previous experiments (Meyza et al., 2015) and the current one showed that no freezing is displayed by either Demonstrators or Observers regardless of strain/genotype and sex. In Remote Transfer of Fear paradigm, social interactions are recorded in the safe environment of the home cage after the Demonstrator mouse receives footshocks in

an adjacent room (the Observer is not able to see, hear or detect the smell of the Demonstrator while it is being stressed). Since the danger in our protocol is not imminent, freezing behavior is not necessary and is replaced by more active coping strategies. The question concerning social interactions and their deficits, however, remains the same. Do the roots for it stem from improper display of changed emotional state or from an inability to receive signals about it.

Sex differences in empathic abilities have been well documented - for review see (Rochat, 2023). Empathy index was assessed in children and adolescents by questionnaires in which you had to mark on a scale if you agree or not with statements such as: 'It makes me sad to see a girl who can't find anyone to play with' or 'Boys who cry because (they) are happy are silly'. Results showed that empathy was highest by girls towards other girls and lesser towards boys, but still higher than empathic responses displayed by boys towards girls. The least empathic response was recorded when it concerned affection shown by boys towards other boys (Bryant, 1982). A similar study done on Norwegian students aged 13-16 has shown that empathic responsiveness is the highest when displayed by girls towards other girls and that boys exhibit less concerns towards a distressed male peer (Endresen, 2001). Research performed by Schulthe-Rüther (Schulte-Rüther et al., 2008) tested how human subjects will react to emotion expressing faces. One assessment focused on the subjects own emotional response after seeing an emotional face while the second task was to evaluate others face displaying various emotions. In both assignments (self and other) women ranked level of emotional response higher than men and brain activation measured by functional magnetic resonance imaging also showed an increase of activity in structures controlling emotional perspective taking (part of mentalizing network), such as the prefrontal cortex and the anterior cingulate cortex. Study performed on baboons showed that females had increased emotional contagion, as compared to males. It was measured by contagious yawning. The authors explained this effect through stronger relationships formed by females through infant care and the occurrence of alloparental care (Palagi et al., 2009). Interestingly, when studying contagious yawning, if the model exhibiting a yawn is a female the yawn contagion is the strongest (Demuru & Palagi, 2012). Pain response of female mice observing a conspecific in pain was also higher than that of male Observers (Langford et al., 2006). Female mice also approached other mice in pain more often than males did (Langford et al., 2010). Research group led by Ben-Ami Bartal et al (Bartal et al., 2011) showed that female rats were more eager to release constrained conspecifics than males.

In the case of consolation, more advanced level of empathy response, it was noticed that there is a higher chance to exhibit consolation behavior towards a stressed individual by female bystanders than by male ones (Romero et al., 2010). A similar effect was seen in lowland gorillas (Cordoni et al., 2006). In the 2006 study (Singer, 2006) volunteers had to play an economic game, where opponents were told to play fairly or unfairly. Next, volunteers observed their opponents receiving pain and their empathic response was assessed with fMRI. Interestingly both sexes showed activation in the fronto-insular and anterior cingulate cortex towards fair players, while only women exhibited empathic responses towards players who played unfairly. Moore (Christov-Moore et al., 2014) suggests that sex differences are both caused by phylogenetic and ontogenetics roots and are strengthened even more by social expectations about gender roles.

When measuring changes in behavior it is of most importance to also quantify locomotor characteristics of animals to check if differences in the behavior do not stem from altered activity. For this reason, I measured the total distance run by both Demonstrators and Observers, mean velocity and the mean distance between Observer and Demonstrator. There were no differences within the same genotype and sex between control and experimental group, which clearly indicates that changes in the behavior levels were not due to the altered activity levels of mice.

When assessing neural activity via c-Fos pattern expressions at first we looked at the brains of the Demonstrators to see which areas will become more activated in response to the foot shock. All of the demonstrators from both sexes regardless of the genotype reacted to aversive stimulation with an increase in the number of c-Fos positive cells in the amygdala and the prefrontal cortex. As anticipated, the most activated amygdala part was the medial nucleus. In our previous experiments conducted on normo-social C57BL/6 mice the medial nucleus of the amygdala was also highly activated in Demonstrators in the same behavioral paradigm (Meyza et al., 2015). Medial amygdalar nucleus is considered a main hub for social information incoming via olfactory cues - the principal sense used by mice (Li et al., 2017). Medial amygdalar nucleus further through the hypothalamus to the PAG (responsible among others for behavioral response to threat) for predator cues obtained by other senses (Gross & Canteras, 2012). It is also worth noticing that beside higher c-Fos amount in CeL amygdala of male WT Demonstrators, BLA and CeM in KO female Demonstrators there was not robust increase in c-Fos in the basolateral or central nuclei of the amygdala. According to the previous research,

activation of these structures is usually accompanied by freezing behavior elicited by fear conditioning in single animals (Goosens & Maren, 2001; Herry & Johansen, 2014; LeDoux, 2000).

One of the reasons for lower activation of the amygdala may be that, immediately after footshocks the Demonstrator was taken back to the safe environment of the home cage which could alleviate fear. Furthermore, social interactions with a cage mate could also have an effect on c-Fos activity through a phenomenon called the 'Social Buffering'. We must remember that information within a pair of mice does not go only in one way from Demonstrator to Observer. Observers' behavior also influences the way the Demonstrator behaves, especially when the Observer notices the altered emotional state of the Demonstrator and directs its undivided attention to it. Evidence from human studies suggests that presence of someone familiar can lower everyday stress and helps in faster recovery from trauma (Bowen et al., 2014). Similar results were obtained from studies on non-human primates (Gunnar et al., 2015; Sanchez et al., 2015). Social buffering was also observed in prairie voles (Burkett et al., 2016). Presence of a rat partner decreases freezing in previously fear conditioned rats during fear extinction (Gorkiewicz et al., 2023) or when exposed to the conditioning context (Kiyokawa et al., 2004). (Hennessy et al., 2009; Kikusui et al., 2006) showed that the effect size of 'Social Buffering' is influenced by familiarity and whether or not the partner animal is naive to the fear conditioning. Experiments performed on mice have shown that exposure to non-fearful mice before fear conditioning may reduce long-term contextual fear memory (Guzmán et al., 2009). Interestingly, an increase in Demonstrator's amygdala activity, other than in the medial nucleus, was found in KO strain in Experimental groups (BLA and CeM in females) which may indicate that social interactions could not alleviate these Demonstrators' fear to the same extent as in WT mice.

The c-Fos activation pattern in the amygdala of the Observers did not seem to change regardless of group or sex. This result is somewhat unexpected, although in our previous study using another ASD mouse model, the BTBR T+ tj/J mice, there was also no c-Fos increase in Observers paired with stressed Demonstrators, an effect which we associated with decreased social interaction leading to lack of emotion transfer. In the normo-social strain, c57BL/6 mice, the basolateral nucleus of the amygdala of Observers paired with stressed Demonstrators was activated (Meyza et al., 2015). The same behavioral paradigm conducted on rats showed that in Observers both the basolateral and central amygdala were activated (Knapska et al., 2006) which suggests that emotional contagion is both species and strain dependent. This is in line

with the Observational Fear Learning study results showing that FVB strain (the background strain for our Fmr1 KO) is less social and less prone to emotional contagion than c57BL/6 mice (Keum et al., 2016).

In our previous study (Meyza et al., 2015) c57BL/6 male Demonstrators and Observers responded to the behavioral challenge with an increase in neuronal activation in both the prelimbic and infralimbic parts of the prefrontal cortex. Here we saw a similar increase in WT Demonstrators but in the prelimbic cortex only. We did not see a similar activation in either KO Demonstrators or the Observers of either genotype. While the lack of an increase in the number of c-Fos positive cells in KO Observers could be related to diminished transfer of emotions due to low amounts of sniffing in these pairs of mice, the lack of activation in WT Observers seems to have a different background. Contrary to males, the exposure to a stressed cage mate evoked a significant activation of the infralimbic and prelimbic prefrontal cortex in female Demonstrators regardless of genotype. Interestingly, it coincided with a period of increased body sniffing which enabled emotional contagion. Seeing as this increase was found only in the experimental group it suggests that the interaction itself with a fear conditioned partner is sufficient to trigger a c-Fos response in the prefrontal cortex of the female Observers. A study done on rats showed that an interaction with a recently stressed Demonstrator triggers c-Fos increase in the prefrontal cortex of male but not female Observers (Mikosz et al., 2015). This further confirms differences between rats and mice and that emotional contagion in rodents, especially in the context of sex is still not well understood. Stronger activation of the prefrontal cortex may also explain the lower activity of the amygdala seen in the current study as the role of the prefrontal cortex in controlling and attenuating fear responses is well known (LeDoux, 2000; Maren, 2011). Our results are also compatible with the hypothesis proposed by Pare and Quirk (Paré & Quirk, 2017), saying that prefrontal neurons through reciprocal connection between mPFC and basal nuclei of the amygdala modulate behavioral responses. In this hypothesis it is proposed that there is a subset of neurons in the basolateral amygdala that control different behaviors linked to fear response. To elicit one of such behaviors the responsible group of neurons has to be activated while the other subset of cells has to be inhibited through connections from mPFC.

On **Figure 26** I summarized the c-Fos data showing differences between control and experimental group in Demonstrators and Observers, while on **Figure 27** summarized differences between WT and KO strains are shown.



Figure 26. Summarized c-Fos data compared between control and experimental group. WT - Wild Type genotype, KO - Knockout genotype, CTRL - Control group, EXP - Experimental group. Significance levels are color coded.



Figure 27. Summarized c-Fos data compared between WT and KO strains. WT - Wild Type genotype, KO - Knockout genotype, CTRL - Control group, EXP - Experimental group. Significance levels are color coded.

When analyzing c-Fos expression pattern it is important to remember about the limitations of this method: its low temporal resolution and that it might not show every activated cell (Hudson, 2018). Further studies employing other techniques would also be necessary to
characterize the activated population (as e.g., excitatory or inhibitory neurons as well as neurons co-expressing other markers).

One of the target genes of the AP-1 transcriptional factor, which c-Fos is a part of, is matrix metalloproteinase-9 (MMP-9) (Okulski et al., 2007; Rivera et al., 2010). As previously mentioned Fragile X Syndrome is characterized with an unusual phenotype of dendritic spines. Mice without FMR1 (FX KO) have less developed dendritic spines (characterized with immature phenotype: more thin and long spines and less mushroom shaped ones), which reflects neuronal morphology found in people diagnosed with Fragile X Syndrome (Comery et al., 1997; Irwin et al., 2002; McKinney et al., 2005).

This phenotype is directly linked to the lack of FMR1 protein, a crucial inhibitory factor for local translation of many genes tightly connected with synaptic function. One of its target genes is MMP-9, a protein whose main function is to re-organize the extracellular matrix, necessary for dendritic spines to be able to change their shape in response to stimulation. Higher levels of MMP-9 found in FMR1 KO mice are thought to be responsible for impaired dendritic spine morphology (Phillips & Pozzo-Miller, 2015). Cross breeding of FMR1 KO mice with mice lacking MMP-9 resulted in normalizing their asocial phenotype, moreover rescuing the morphology of dendritic spines (Sidhu et al., 2014). Lowering levels of MMP-9 with minocycline treatment also results in normalization of spine morphology in FX KO mice, simultaneously improving their social skills (Dziembowska et al., 2013).

Research conducted on rodent models of ASD point to imbalance between excitatory and inhibitory activity in the brain as one of the reasons behind impairment of social interactions. In FMR1 KO mice a distorted excitation/inhibition balance resulting with hyperexcitability of neocortical circuits was found (Gibson et al., 2008), alongside alterations in neurotransmitter levels (Contractor et al., 2015) and enhanced neocortical excitability due to the elevated neuroplasticity (Gonçalves et al., 2013; Zhang et al., 2014).

Altered activity of the prefrontal cortex may also be related to changed sensory functions in people with ASD who have difficulties with reading emotional faces (Marco et al., 2011). BTBR mice, an idiopathic mouse model of ASD, also display gaze avoidance (Blanchard et al., 2012) which could explain their difficulties at reading emotional information from their conspecifics. Thanks to the robust development of machine learning tools combined with highquality video capture scientists are now able to study mouse facial expressions at previously unavailable levels of detail. It is worth pursuing to find out if mice can get information from faces even though vision is not their main sense. Another way of communication between rodents is through ultrasonic vocalizations. In rats the two main types of vocalizations fall in 22kHz and 50kHz bands. The first one is associated with an aversive state while the second one with appetitive responses (Brudzynski, 2021). Mice vocalize less, mainly during pup separation, territorial fights and courting assays (Yao et al., 2023). We recorded and examined USVs during the Remote Transfer of Fear but there were too few episodes of it and the distribution was not representative of any group or genotype to warrant an in-depth analysis of this mode of communication.

Mice use olfactory cues as a main method to gather information about the environment. In trained tasks mice quickly learned the location of a reward following odors while visual cues were eliminated. On the other hand, when olfactory cues were not present, animals were not able to perform the task (Gire et al., 2016). (Girard et al., 2016) showed that FVB mice are capable of learning odor-reward associations in olfactory tubing maze. Mice use urinary scent marking behavior towards other males in novel environments as a way to assert dominance (Arakawa et al., 2007) and it was shown that mice can distinguish between specific odor cues (Hurst, 1989). It was reported that mice are able to discriminate between two mice of the same species as well as between animals from different species solely based on olfactory cues (Bowers & Alexander, 1967). Individual mice are equipped with original scent due to the existence of polymorphic genes named odortypes which are mainly linked to major histocompatibility complex genes (Yamazaki et al., 1999). Due to the high sensitivity of a mouse olfactory system, mice are able to detect and avoid infected conspecific (Beauchamp & Yamazaki, 2003). In a paradigm chosen in this thesis I could not focus on examining olfactory cues since testing was performed in a safe environment of the home cage so the used bedding was not a good place to extract any smells from.

As always when conducting experiments in a highly controlled, laboratory environment it is worth asking about the ethological relevance of results obtained that way. Especially when studying sociability of mice, one has to remember that mice living in nature are particularly territorial and their social interactions are limited to mating, nursing offspring and defending its territory (Chambers et al., 2000; Crowcroft, 1955). Males principally are fighting for resources with other males, while females have more chances to interact with conspecifics. Even though one might argue that learning about social interactions in artificial settings may be pointless, studies suggests that when space is limited males aggression decreases which may facilitate social interactions between them (Berdoy & Drickamer, 2007; Brown, 1953; Davis, 1958). Nevertheless, it is crucial that scientists should conduct experiments in more natural settings and utilize both females and males in studying social interactions to get a broader understanding of mechanisms responsible for emotional responses. Especially in the light of the sex-specific responses observed in this study.

6. Summary

The aim of this study was to expand our knowledge about the emotional contagion abilities of mice with a full knockout of the FMRP protein (a monogenetic model of ASD). Results obtained in this study point to differences in responses to a stressful peer depending on the sex and the genotype of the animal. Males from FMR1 KO strain showed deficits in social behavior compared to their WT counterparts (e.g lower body sniffing during exposure to a stressed cagemate). After social interactions with a stressed Demonstrator male WT Observers synchronized their rearing behavior while KO Observers synchronized selfgrooming which could be interpreted as a stereotypic response typical of ASD. Similar effect was observed in females. Observers from both genotypes showed interest in stressed Demonstrators, but their reactions were different. Females from the WT group responded with more exploratory behavior (rearing), while mice from the KO group committed to selfgrooming. On the neuronal level I could not see an increase in neuronal activation patterns (c-Fos expression) in males. In females on the other hand there was a significant increase in c-Fos expression in the prefrontal cortex of Observers. This pattern shows resemblance to the activity pattern of c-Fos found in Demonstrators. Behavior analysis was conducted with the use of a novel approach utilizing machine learning tools. This approach enabled investigation of subtle changes in behavior (otherwise difficult to achieve with the use of standard manual tools). Moreover, the same model can be used in other projects after brief re-training.

7. Conclusions

Results obtained in this study validate *Fmr1* knockout strain as a mouse model for studying emotional contagion deficits and point to the importance of further research on both sexes since clear sex differences in both the extent and the neuronal background of emotional contagion were observed. The behavioral analysis performed here proves the feasibility of the machine-learning approach in dissecting autism-like phenotype in mice.

8. References

- 1. Adolphs, R. (2001). The neurobiology of social cognition. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology*, *11*(2), 231–239.
- 2. Adolphs, R. (2009). The Social Brain: Neural Basis of Social Knowledge. *Annual Review* of *Psychology*, 60(1), 693–716.
- Agirman, G., & Hsiao, E. Y. (2021). SnapShot: The microbiota-gut-brain axis. *Cell*, 184(9), 2524–2524.
- Ahmari, S. E., Spellman, T., Douglass, N. L., Kheirbek, M. A., Simpson, H. B., Deisseroth, K., Gordon, J. A., & Hen, R. (2013). Repeated cortico-striatal stimulation generates persistent OCD-like behavior. *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, 340(6137), 1234– 1239.
- Allman, J. M., Tetreault, N. A., Hakeem, A. Y., Manaye, K. F., Semendeferi, K., Erwin, J. M., Park, S., Goubert, V., & Hof, P. R. (2010). The von Economo neurons in frontoinsular and anterior cingulate cortex in great apes and humans. *Brain Structure and Function*, 214, 495–517.
- Allman, J. M., Watson, K. K., Tetreault, N. A., & Hakeem, A. Y. (2005). Intuition and autism: a possible role for Von Economo neurons. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 9(8), 367–373.
- Altimiras, F., Garcia, J. A., Palacios-García, I., Hurley, M. J., Deacon, R., González, B., & Cogram, P. (2021). Altered Gut Microbiota in a Fragile X Syndrome Mouse Model. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, 15, 653120.
- Anderson, D. J., & Adolphs, R. (2014). A Framework for Studying Emotions across Species. *Cell*, 157(1), 187–200.
- Appleyard, S. M. (2009). Lighting up neuronal pathways: the development of a novel transgenic rat that identifies Fos-activated neurons using a red fluorescent protein. *Endocrinology*, 150(12), 5199–5201.
- Arakawa, H., Arakawa, K., Blanchard, D. C., & Blanchard, R. J. (2007). Scent marking behavior in male C57BL/6J mice: sexual and developmental determination. *Behavioural Brain Research*, 182(1), 73–79.
- Aron, A., Fisher, H., Mashek, D. J., Strong, G., Li, H., & Brown, L. L. (2005). Reward, motivation, and emotion systems associated with early-stage intense romantic love. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 94(1), 327–337.

- Ashwood, P., Krakowiak, P., Hertz-Picciotto, I., Hansen, R., Pessah, I., & Van de Water, J. (2011). Elevated plasma cytokines in autism spectrum disorders provide evidence of immune dysfunction and are associated with impaired behavioral outcome. *Brain, Behavior, and Immunity*, 25(1), 40–45.
- Atsak, P., Orre, M., Bakker, P., Cerliani, L., Roozendaal, B., Gazzola, V., Moita, M., & Keysers, C. (2011). Experience modulates vicarious freezing in rats: A model for empathy. *PLoS ONE*, 6(7).
- Aureli, F., & De Waal, F. (2000). *Natural conflict resolution*. University of California Press Berkeley.
- Banos, O., Comas-González, Z., Medina, J., Polo-Rodríguez, A., Gil, D., Peral, J., Amador, S., & Villalonga, C. (2024). Sensing technologies and machine learning methods for emotion recognition in autism: Systematic review. *International Journal of Medical Informatics*, 187, 105469.
- Baribeau, D. A., Dupuis, A., Paton, T. A., Scherer, S. W., Schachar, R. J., Arnold, P. D., Szatmari, P., Nicolson, R., Georgiades, S., & Crosbie, J. (2017). Oxytocin receptor polymorphisms are differentially associated with social abilities across neurodevelopmental disorders. *Scientific Reports*, 7(1), 11618.
- Baron-Cohen, S., & Wheelwright, S. (2004). The empathy quotient: an investigation of adults with Asperger syndrome or high functioning autism, and normal sex differences. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 34, 163–175.
- Barrett, L. F. (2006). Are emotions natural kinds? *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, *1*(1), 28–58.
- Bartal, I. B.-A., Decety, J., & Mason, P. (2011). Empathy and Pro-Social Behavior in Rats. *Science*, *334*(6061), 1427–1430.
- 20. Bauman, M., & Kemper, T. L. (1985). Histoanatomic observations of the brain in early infantile autism. *Neurology*, *35*(6), 866–866.
- 21. Beauchamp, G., & Yamazaki, K. (2003). Chemical signalling in mice. *Biochemical Society Transactions*, *31*(1), 147–151.
- Berdoy, M., & Drickamer, L. C. (2007). Comparative social organization and life history of Rattus and Mus. *Rodent Societies: An Ecological and Evolutionary Perspective*, 380–392.
- 23. Bernhardt, B. C., & Singer, T. (2012). The neural basis of empathy. *Annual Review of Neuroscience*, *35*(1), 1–23.

- 24. Bickart, K. C., Dickerson, B. C., & Feldman Barrett, L. (2014). The amygdala as a hub in brain networks that support social life. *Neuropsychologia*, *63*, 235–248.
- Bickart, K. C., Hollenbeck, M. C., Barrett, L. F., & Dickerson, B. C. (2012). Intrinsic amygdala–cortical functional connectivity predicts social network size in humans. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 32(42), 14729–14741.
- Blanchard, D. C., Defensor, E. B., Meyza, K. Z., Pobbe, R. L., Pearson, B. L., Bolivar, V. J., & Blanchard, R. J. (2012). BTBR T+ tf/J mice: autism-relevant behaviors and reduced fractone-associated heparan sulfate. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, 36(1), 285–296.
- Bölte, S., Hubl, D., Feineis-Matthews, S., Prvulovic, D., Dierks, T., & Poustka, F. (2006).
 Facial affect recognition training in autism: can we animate the fusiform gyrus?
 Behavioral Neuroscience, 120(1), 211.
- Bordes, J., Miranda, L., Müller-Myhsok, B., & Schmidt, M. V. (2023). Advancing social behavioral neuroscience by integrating ethology and comparative psychology methods through machine learning. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, 151, 105243.
- Bowen, K. S., Uchino, B. N., Birmingham, W., Carlisle, M., Smith, T. W., & Light, K. C. (2014). The stress-buffering effects of functional social support on ambulatory blood pressure. *Health Psychology*, *33*(11), 1440.
- Bowers, J. M., & Alexander, B. K. (1967). Mice: individual recognition by olfactory cues. Science, 158(3805), 1208–1210.
- Bromley, R., Mawer, G., Clayton-Smith, J., Baker, G., & Liverpool and Manchester Neurodevelopment Group. (2008). Autism spectrum disorders following in utero exposure to antiepileptic drugs. *Neurology*, *71*(23), 1923.
- Brown, R. Z. (1953). Social behavior, reproduction, and population changes in the house mouse (Mus musculus L.). *Ecological Monographs*, 23(3), 218–240.
- Bruchey, A. K., Jones, C. E., & Monfils, M.-H. (2010). Fear conditioning by-proxy: social transmission of fear during memory retrieval. *Behavioural Brain Research*, 214(1), 80–84.
- 34. Brudzynski, S. M. (2021). Biological functions of rat ultrasonic vocalizations, arousal mechanisms, and call initiation. *Brain Sciences*, *11*(5), 605.
- 35. Bryant, B. K. (1982). An Index of Empathy for Children and Adolescents. *Child Development*, *53*(2), 413.

- Buckholtz, J. W., Asplund, C. L., Dux, P. E., Zald, D. H., Gore, J. C., Jones, O. D., & Marois, R. (2008). The Neural Correlates of Third-Party Punishment. *Neuron*, 60(5), 930–940.
- Burgos-Robles, A., Vidal-Gonzalez, I., & Quirk, G. J. (2009). Sustained conditioned responses in prelimbic prefrontal neurons are correlated with fear expression and extinction failure. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 29(26), 8474–8482.
- Burguière, E., Monteiro, P., Feng, G., & Graybiel, A. M. (2013). Optogenetic stimulation of lateral orbitofronto-striatal pathway suppresses compulsive behaviors. *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, 340(6137), 1243–1246.
- Burkett, J. P., Andari, E., Johnson, Z. V., Curry, D. C., de Waal, F. B. M., & Young, L. J. (2016). Oxytocin-dependent consolation behavior in rodents. *Science*, *351*(6271), 375–378.
- 40. Cacioppo, J. T., Tassinary, L. G., & Berntson, G. G. (2000). Psychophysiological science. *Handbook of Psychophysiology*, *2*, 3–23.
- 41. Calder, A. J., Lawrence, A. D., & Young, A. W. (2001). Neuropsychology of fear and loathing. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, *2*(5), 352–363.
- Campbell, M. W., & de Waal, F. B. M. (2010). Methodological Problems in the Study of Contagious Yawning. In O. Walusinski (Ed.), *The Mystery of Yawning in Physiology and Disease* (Vol. 28, p. 0). S.Karger AG.
- 43. Campbell, M. W., & de Waal, F. B. M. (2011). Ingroup-Outgroup Bias in Contagious Yawning by Chimpanzees Supports Link to Empathy. *PLOS ONE*, *6*(4), e18283.
- Carnevali, L., Montano, N., Tobaldini, E., Thayer, J. F., & Sgoifo, A. (2020). The contagion of social defeat stress: Insights from rodent studies. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, 111, 12–18.
- 45. Carper, R. A., & Courchesne, E. (2005). Localized enlargement of the frontal cortex in early autism. *Biological Psychiatry*, *57*(2), 126–133.
- Carretta, D., Hervé-Minvielle, A., Bajo, V. M., Villa, A. E., & Rouiller, E. M. (1999). c-Fos expression in the auditory pathways related to the significance of acoustic signals in rats performing a sensory-motor task. *Brain Research*, 841(1–2), 170–183.
- Carrillo, M., Migliorati, F., Bruls, R., Han, Y., Heinemans, M., Pruis, I., Gazzola, V., & Keysers, C. (2015). Repeated witnessing of conspecifics in pain: Effects on emotional contagion. *PLoS ONE*, *10*(9), 1–11.

- Casanova, M. F., El-Baz, A. S., Kamat, S. S., Dombroski, B. A., Khalifa, F., Elnakib, A., Soliman, A., Allison-McNutt, A., & Switala, A. E. (2013). Focal cortical dysplasias in autism spectrum disorders. *Acta Neuropathologica Communications*, 1, 1–11.
- Chambers, L. K., Singleton, G. R., & Krebs, C. J. (2000). Movements and social organization of wild house mice (Mus domesticus) in the wheatlands of northwestern Victoria, Australia. *Journal of Mammalogy*, 81(1), 59–69.
- 50. Chartrand, T. L., & Lakin, J. L. (2013). The antecedents and consequences of human behavioral mimicry. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 64(1), 285–308.
- 51. Chen, L., & Toth, M. (2001). Fragile X mice develop sensory hyperreactivity to auditory stimuli. *Neuroscience*, *103*(4), 1043–1050.
- 52. Chen, Q. L., Panksepp, J. B., & Lahvis, G. P. (2009). Empathy is moderated by genetic background in mice. *PLoS ONE*, *4*(2), 1–14.
- Chiu, R., Boyle, W. J., Meek, J., Smeal, T., Hunter, T., & Karin, M. (1988). The c-fos protein interacts with c-JunAP-1 to stimulate transcription of AP-1 responsive genes. *Cell*, 54(4), 541–552.
- Christensen, J., Grønborg, T. K., Sørensen, M. J., Schendel, D., Parner, E. T., Pedersen,
 L. H., & Vestergaard, M. (2013). Prenatal Valproate Exposure and Risk of Autism
 Spectrum Disorders and Childhood Autism. *JAMA*, 309(16), 1696–1703.
- Christov-Moore, L., Simpson, E. A., Coudé, G., Grigaityte, K., Iacoboni, M., & Ferrari,
 P. F. (2014). Empathy: Gender effects in brain and behavior. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, 46, 604–627.
- 56. Church, R. M. (1959). Emotional reactions of rats to the pain of others. *Journal of Comparative and Physiological Psychology*, 52(2), 132–134.
- 57. Comery, T. A., Harris, J. B., Willems, P. J., Oostra, B. A., Irwin, S. A., Weiler, I. J., & Greenough, W. T. (1997). Abnormal dendritic spines in fragile X knockout mice: maturation and pruning deficits. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 94(10), 5401–5404.
- 58. Contractor, A., Klyachko, V. A., & Portera-Cailliau, C. (2015). Altered neuronal and circuit excitability in fragile X syndrome. *Neuron*, 87(4), 699–715.
- 59. Cordoni, G., Palagi, E., & Tarli, S. B. (2006). Reconciliation and consolation in captive western gorillas. *International Journal of Primatology*, 27, 1365–1382.
- 60. Courchesne, E., Campbell, K., & Solso, S. (2011). Brain growth across the life span in autism: age-specific changes in anatomical pathology. *Brain Research*, *1380*, 138–145.

- Cowansage, K. K., Shuman, T., Dillingham, B. C., Chang, A., Golshani, P., & Mayford, M. (2014). Direct reactivation of a coherent neocortical memory of context. *Neuron*, 84(2), 432–441.
- 62. Crowcroft, P. (1955). Territoriality in wild house mice, Mus musculus L. Journal of Mammalogy, 36(2), 299–301.
- 63. Cummings, K. A., & Clem, R. L. (2020). Prefrontal somatostatin interneurons encode fear memory. *Nature Neuroscience*, 23(1), 61–74.
- 64. Curran, A. T., Miller, D., Zokas, L., & Verma, I. M. (1984). Viral and cellular fos proteins: a comparative analysis. *Cell*, *36*(2), 259–268.
- 65. Damasio, A. (2004). Emotions and Feelings: A Neurobiological Perspective. IN Manstead, Asr, Frijda, n. & Fischer, A.(Eds.) Feelings and Emotions: The Amsterdam Symposium.
- 66. Dan, Z., Mao, X., Liu, Q., Guo, M., Zhuang, Y., Liu, Z., Chen, K., Chen, J., Xu, R., & Tang, J. (2020). Altered gut microbial profile is associated with abnormal metabolism activity of Autism Spectrum Disorder. *Gut Microbes*, 11(5), 1246–1267.
- 67. Davis, D. E. (1958). The role of density in aggressive behaviour of house mice. *Animal Behaviour*, 6(3–4), 207–210.
- 68. Davis, M. (1992). The role of the amygdala in fear and anxiety. *Annual Review of Neuroscience*, 15, 353–375.
- 69. Davis, M., & Whalen, P. J. (2001). The amygdala: vigilance and emotion. *Molecular Psychiatry*, *6*(1), 13–34.
- de Hoz, L., Gierej, D., Lioudyno, V., Jaworski, J., Blazejczyk, M., Cruces-Solís, H., Beroun, A., Lebitko, T., Nikolaev, T., Knapska, E., Nelken, I., & Kaczmarek, L. (2017). Blocking c-Fos Expression Reveals the Role of Auditory Cortex Plasticity in Sound Frequency Discrimination Learning. *Cerebral Cortex*, 1–11.
- 71. De Rubeis, S., & Buxbaum, J. D. (2015). Genetics and genomics of autism spectrum disorder: embracing complexity. *Human Molecular Genetics*, 24(R1), R24–R31.
- 72. De Vaan, G., Beijers, R., Vervloed, M. P., Knoors, H., Bloeming-Wolbrink, K. A., De Weerth, C., & Verhoeven, L. (2020). Associations between cortisol stress levels and autism symptoms in people with sensory and intellectual disabilities. 5, 540387.
- 73. de Waal, F. B. M. (2008). Putting the Altruism Back into Altruism: The Evolution of Empathy. *Annual Review of Psychology*, *59*(1), 279–300.
- 74. De Waal, F. B. M., & Preston, S. D. (2017). Mammalian empathy: Behavioural manifestations and neural basis. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, *18*(8), 498–509.

- 75. Decety, J. (2011). Dissecting the neural mechanisms mediating empathy. *Emotion Review*, *3*(1), 92–108.
- 76. Demuru, E., & Palagi, E. (2012). In bonobos yawn contagion is higher among kin and friends. *PLoS One*, *7*(11), e49613.
- Derntl, B., Windischberger, C., Robinson, S., Lamplmayr, E., Kryspin-Exner, I., Gur, R.
 C., Moser, E., & Habel, U. (2008). Facial emotion recognition and amygdala activation are associated with menstrual cycle phase. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, *33*(8), 1031–1040.
- Dimitroff, S. J., Kardan, O., Necka, E. A., Decety, J., Berman, M. G., & Norman, G. J. (2017). Physiological dynamics of stress contagion. *Scientific Reports*, 7(1), 6168.
- Dolan, B. M., Duron, S. G., Campbell, D. A., Vollrath, B., Rao, B. S. S., Ko, H.-Y., Lin, G. G., Govindarajan, A., Choi, S.-Y., & Tonegawa, S. (2013). Rescue of fragile X syndrome phenotypes in Fmr1 KO mice by the small-molecule PAK inhibitor FRAX486. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *110*(14), 5671–5676.
- Dolensek, N., Gehrlach, D. A., Klein, A. S., & Gogolla, N. (2020). Facial expressions of emotion states and their neuronal correlates in mice. *Science*, *368*(6486), 89–94.
- Duffney, L. J., Zhong, P., Wei, J., Matas, E., Cheng, J., Qin, L., Ma, K., Dietz, D. M., Kajiwara, Y., & Buxbaum, J. D. (2015). Autism-like deficits in Shank3-deficient mice are rescued by targeting actin regulators. *Cell Reports*, 11(9), 1400–1413.
- 82. Dziembowska, M., Pretto, D. I., Janusz, A., Kaczmarek, L., Leigh, M. J., Gabriel, N., Durbin-Johnson, B., Hagerman, R. J., & Tassone, F. (2013). High MMP-9 activity levels in fragile X syndrome are lowered by minocycline. *American Journal of Medical Genetics. Part A*, 161A(8), Article 8.
- Eibl-Eibesfeldt, I. (1974). Love and Hate: The Natural History of Behavior Patterns. Schocken Books.
- Ekman, P. (1998). Universality of emotional expression? A personal history of the dispute. Darwin, C.(1998) The Expression of the Emotions in Man and Animals, 3rd Editon. Oxford University Press: New York, 363–393.
- 85. Ekman, P., Dalgleish, T., & Power, M. (1999). Handbook of cognition and emotion.
- 86. Endresen, I. (2001). Self-reported empathy in Norwegian adolescents: Sex differences, age trends, and relationship to bullying.
- Estes, M. L., & McAllister, A. K. (2016). Maternal immune activation: Implications for neuropsychiatric disorders. *Science*, 353(6301), 772–777.

- Ferretti, V., Maltese, F., Contarini, G., Nigro, M., Bonavia, A., Huang, H., Gigliucci, V., Morelli, G., Scheggia, D., Managò, F., Castellani, G., Lefevre, A., Cancedda, L., Chini, B., Grinevich, V., & Papaleo, F. (2019). Oxytocin Signaling in the Central Amygdala Modulates Emotion Discrimination in Mice. *Current Biology*, *29*(12), 1938-1953.e6.
- 89. Ferretti, V., & Papaleo, F. (2019). Understanding others: Emotion recognition in humans and other animals. *Genes, Brain and Behavior*, *18*(1), 1–12.
- 90. Fmr1 knockout mice: a model to study fragile X mental retardation. The Dutch-Belgian Fragile X Consortium. (1994). *Cell*, 78(1), 23–33.
- Frankland, P. W., Bontempi, B., Talton, L. E., Kaczmarek, L., & Silva, A. J. (2004). The involvement of the anterior cingulate cortex in remote contextual fear memory. *Science*, 304(5672), 881–883.
- Franklin, T. B., Silva, B. A., Perova, Z., Marrone, L., Masferrer, M. E., Zhan, Y., Kaplan, A., Greetham, L., Verrechia, V., & Halman, A. (2017). Prefrontal cortical control of a brainstem social behavior circuit. *Nature Neuroscience*, 20(2), 260–270.
- 93. Freitag, C. M. (2007). The genetics of autistic disorders and its clinical relevance: a review of the literature. *Molecular Psychiatry*, *12*(1), 2–22.
- 94. Frith, C. D., & Frith, U. (2006). The Neural Basis of Mentalizing. *Neuron*, 50(4), 531–534.
- 95. Fuster, J. M. (2001). The prefrontal cortex--an update: time is of the essence. *Neuron*, *30*(2), 319–333.
- Gabriels, R. L., Agnew, J. A., Pan, Z., Holt, K. D., Reynolds, A., & Laudenslager, M. L. (2013). Elevated repetitive behaviors are associated with lower diurnal salivary cortisol levels in autism spectrum disorder. *Biological Psychology*, 93(2), 262–268.
- 97. Gallo, F. T., Katche, C., Morici, J. F., Medina, J. H., & Weisstaub, N. V. (2018). Immediate Early Genes, Memory and Psychiatric Disorders: Focus on c-Fos, Egr1 and Arc. *Frontiers in Behavioral Neuroscience*, 12, 79.
- Garbett, K., Ebert, P. J., Mitchell, A., Lintas, C., Manzi, B., Mirnics, K., & Persico, A. M. (2008). Immune transcriptome alterations in the temporal cortex of subjects with autism. *Neurobiology of Disease*, *30*(3), 303–311.
- 99. Gibson, J. R., Bartley, A. F., Hays, S. A., & Huber, K. M. (2008). Imbalance of neocortical excitation and inhibition and altered UP states reflect network hyperexcitability in the mouse model of fragile X syndrome. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 100(5), 2615–2626.

- Girard, S. D., Escoffier, G., Khrestchatisky, M., & Roman, F. S. (2016). The FVB/N mice: A well suited strain to study learning and memory processes using olfactory cues. *Behavioural Brain Research*, 296, 254–259.
- Gire, D. H., Kapoor, V., Arrighi-Allisan, A., Seminara, A., & Murthy, V. N. (2016). Mice Develop Efficient Strategies for Foraging and Navigation Using Complex Natural Stimuli. *Current Biology*, 26(10), 1261–1273.
- Glaser, J. I., Benjamin, A. S., Farhoodi, R., & Kording, K. P. (2019). The roles of supervised machine learning in systems neuroscience. *Progress in Neurobiology*, 175, 126–137.
- Gobbini, M. I., & Haxby, J. V. (2006). Neural response to the visual familiarity of faces. Brain Research Bulletin, 71(1–3), 76–82.
- Gonçalves, J. T., Anstey, J. E., Golshani, P., & Portera-Cailliau, C. (2013). Circuit level defects in the developing neocortex of Fragile X mice. *Nature Neuroscience*, *16*(7), 903–909.
- 105. Gonzalez-Liencres, C., Juckel, G., Tas, C., Friebe, A., & Brüne, M. (2014). Emotional contagion in mice: The role of familiarity. *Behavioural Brain Research*.
- Goosens, K. A., & Maren, S. (2001). Contextual and auditory fear conditioning are mediated by the lateral, basal, and central amygdaloid nuclei in rats. *Learning & Memory*, 8(3), 148–155.
- Gorkiewicz, T., Danielewski, K., Andraka, K., Kondrakiewicz, K., Meyza, K., Kaminski, J., & Knapska, E. (2023). Social buffering diminishes fear response but does not equal improved fear extinction. *Cerebral Cortex (New York, N.Y. : 1991)*, 33(8), 5007–5024.
- 108. Grandin, T., & Johnson, C. (2006). *Animals in translation: Using the mysteries of autism to decode animal behavior*. Houghton Mifflin Harcourt.
- 109. Greco, C. M., Navarro, C. S., Hunsaker, M. R., Maezawa, I., Shuler, J. F., Tassone, F., Delany, M., Au, J. W., Berman, R. F., Jin, L.-W., Schumann, C., Hagerman, P. J., & Hagerman, R. J. (2011). Neuropathologic features in the hippocampus and cerebellum of three older men with fragile X syndrome. *Molecular Autism*, 2(1), 2.
- Greener, J. G., Kandathil, S. M., Moffat, L., & Jones, D. T. (2022). A guide to machine learning for biologists. *Nature Reviews. Molecular Cell Biology*, 23(1), 40–55.
- 111. Gross, C. T., & Canteras, N. S. (2012). The many paths to fear. *Nature Reviews*. *Neuroscience*, *13*(9), 651–658.
- 112. Gu, X., Hof, P. R., Friston, K. J., & Fan, J. (2013). Anterior insular cortex and emotional awareness. *The Journal of Comparative Neurology*, *521*(15), 3371–3388.

- Guapo, V. G., Graeff, F. G., Zani, A. C. T., Labate, C. M., dos Reis, R. M., & Del-Ben,
 C. M. (2009). Effects of sex hormonal levels and phases of the menstrual cycle in the processing of emotional faces. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 34(7), 1087–1094.
- Gunnar, M. R., Hostinar, C. E., Sanchez, M. M., Tottenham, N., & Sullivan, R. M. (2015).
 Parental buffering of fear and stress neurobiology: Reviewing parallels across rodent, monkey, and human models. *Social Neuroscience*, *10*(5), 474–478.
- Guzmán, Y. F., Tronson, N. C., Guedea, A., Huh, K. H., Gao, C., & Radulovic, J. (2009).
 Social modeling of conditioned fear in mice by non-fearful conspecifics. *Behavioural Brain Research*, 201(1), 173–178.
- 116. Guzowski, J. F. (2002). Insights into immediate-early gene function in hippocampal memory consolidation using antisense oligonucleotide and fluorescent imaging approaches. *Hippocampus*, *12*(1), 86–104.
- 117. Hagerman, R., Hoem, G., & Hagerman, P. (2010). Fragile X and autism: Intertwined at the molecular level leading to targeted treatments. *Molecular Autism*, *1*(1), 12.
- Halász, N., & Shepherd, G. M. (1983). Neurochemistry of the vertebrate olfactory bulb. *Neuroscience*, 10(3), 579–619.
- 119. Hampson, D. R., & Blatt, G. J. (2015). Autism spectrum disorders and neuropathology of the cerebellum. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, *9*, 420.
- Hashemi, E., Ariza, J., Rogers, H., Noctor, S. C., & Martínez-Cerdeño, V. (2017). The number of parvalbumin-expressing interneurons is decreased in the prefrontal cortex in autism. *Cerebral Cortex*, 27(3), 1931–1943.
- 121. Hatfield, E., Cacioppo, J., & Rapson, R. (1994). Emotional Contagion Cambridge University Press. *New York*.
- Hayashi, M. L., Rao, B. S., Seo, J.-S., Choi, H.-S., Dolan, B. M., Choi, S.-Y., Chattarji, S., & Tonegawa, S. (2007). Inhibition of p21-activated kinase rescues symptoms of fragile X syndrome in mice. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 104(27), 11489–11494.
- Hazlett, H. C., Poe, M. D., Gerig, G., Styner, M., Chappell, C., Smith, R. G., Vachet, C., & Piven, J. (2011). Early brain overgrowth in autism associated with an increase in cortical surface area before age 2 years. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 68(5), 467–476.
- 124. Helt, M. S., Eigsti, I., Snyder, P. J., & Fein, D. A. (2010). Contagious yawning in autistic and typical development. *Child Development*, *81*(5), 1620–1631.
- Hennessy, M. B., Kaiser, S., & Sachser, N. (2009). Social buffering of the stress response: diversity, mechanisms, and functions. *Frontiers in Neuroendocrinology*, 30(4), 470–482.

- 126. Herdegen, T., & Leah, J. (1998). Inducible and constitutive transcription factors in the mammalian nervous system: control of gene expression by Jun, Fos and Krox, and CREB/ATF proteins. *Brain Research Reviews*, 28(3), 370–490.
- 127. Herry, C., & Johansen, J. P. (2014). Encoding of fear learning and memory in distributed neuronal circuits. *Nature Neuroscience*, *17*(12), 1644–1654.
- 128. Hess, U., & Blairy, S. (2001). Facial mimicry and emotional contagion to dynamic emotional facial expressions and their influence on decoding accuracy. *International Journal of Psychophysiology*, 40(2), 129–141.
- Hessl, D., Tassone, F., Cordeiro, L., Koldewyn, K., McCormick, C., Green, C., Wegelin, J., Yuhas, J., & Hagerman, R. J. (2008). Brief Report: Aggression and Stereotypic Behavior in Males with Fragile X Syndrome—Moderating Secondary Genes in a "Single Gene" Disorder. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 38(1), 184–189.
- 130. Heurteaux, C., Bertaina, Val., Widmann, C., & Lazdunski, M. (1993). K+ channel openers prevent global ischemia-induced expression of c-fos, c-jun, heat shock protein, and amyloid beta-protein precursor genes and neuronal death in rat hippocampus. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 90(20), 9431–9435.
- 131. Hevner, R. F. (2015). Brain overgrowth in disorders of RTK–PI3K–AKT signaling: a mosaic of malformations. 39(1), 36–43.
- 132. Hodges, S. L., Nolan, S. O., Taube, J. H., & Lugo, J. N. (2017). Adult Fmr1 knockout mice present with deficiencies in hippocampal interleukin-6 and tumor necrosis factor-α expression. *Neuroreport*, 28(18), 1246–1249.
- 133. Hoffman, M. L. (1975). Developmental synthesis of affect and cognition and its implications for altruistic motivation. *Developmental Psychology*, *11*(5), 607.
- 134. Hou, L., Antion, M. D., Hu, D., Spencer, C. M., Paylor, R., & Klann, E. (2006). Dynamic translational and proteasomal regulation of fragile X mental retardation protein controls mGluR-dependent long-term depression. *Neuron*, 51(4), 441–454.
- 135. Huber, K. M., Gallagher, S. M., Warren, S. T., & Bear, M. F. (2002). Altered synaptic plasticity in a mouse model of fragile X mental retardation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 99(11), 7746–7750.
- Hudson, A. E. (2018). Genetic reporters of neuronal activity: c-Fos and G-CaMP6. In Methods in enzymology (Vol. 603, pp. 197–220). Elsevier.
- 137. Hughes, H. K., Rose, D., & Ashwood, P. (2018). The gut microbiota and dysbiosis in autism spectrum disorders. *Current Neurology and Neuroscience Reports*, *18*, 1–15.

- Hurst, J. L. (1989). The complex network of olfactory communication in populations of wild house mice Mus domesticus Rutty: urine marking and investigation within family groups. *Animal Behaviour*, 37, 705–725.
- 139. Iacoboni, M. (2009). Imitation, empathy, and mirror neurons. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 60, 653–670.
- 140. Inagaki, T. K., Ray, L. A., Irwin, M. R., Way, B. M., & Eisenberger, N. I. (2016). Opioids and social bonding: naltrexone reduces feelings of social connection. *Social Cognitive* and Affective Neuroscience, 11(5), 728–735.
- Iñiguez, S. D., Flores-Ramirez, F. J., Riggs, L. M., Alipio, J. B., Garcia-Carachure, I., Hernandez, M. A., Sanchez, D. O., Lobo, M. K., Serrano, P. A., & Braren, S. H. (2018). Vicarious social defeat stress induces depression-related outcomes in female mice. *Biological Psychiatry*, 83(1), 9–17.
- 142. Irwin, S. A., Galvez, R., & Greenough, W. T. (2000). Dendritic spine structural anomalies in fragile-X mental retardation syndrome. *Cerebral Cortex (New York, N.Y. : 1991)*, 10(10), 1038–1044.
- Irwin, S. A., Idupulapati, M., Gilbert, M. E., Harris, J. B., Chakravarti, A. B., Rogers, E. J., Crisostomo, R. A., Larsen, B. P., Mehta, A., Alcantara, C. J., Patel, B., Swain, R. A., Weiler, I. J., Oostra, B. A., & Greenough, W. T. (2002). Dendritic spine and dendritic field characteristics of layer V pyramidal neurons in the visual cortex of fragile-X knockout mice. *American Journal of Medical Genetics*, *111*(2), 140–146.
- Ito, W., & Morozov, A. (2019). Prefrontal-amygdala plasticity enabled by observational fear. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, *October 2018*, 1–10.
- 145. Jacot-Descombes, S., Keshav, N. U., Dickstein, D. L., Wicinski, B., Janssen, W. G., Hiester, L. L., Sarfo, E. K., Warda, T., Fam, M. M., & Harony-Nicolas, H. (2020). Altered synaptic ultrastructure in the prefrontal cortex of Shank3-deficient rats. *Molecular Autism*, 11, 1–17.
- 146. Jeon, D., Kim, S., Chetana, M., Jo, D., Ruley, H. E., Lin, S. Y., Rabah, D., Kinet, J. P., & Shin, H. S. (2010). Observational fear learning involves affective pain system and Ca v 1.2 Ca 2+ channels in ACC. *Nature Neuroscience*, *13*(4), 482–488.
- 147. Jeon, D., Kim, S., Chetana, M., Jo, D., Ruley, H. E., Rabah, D., Kinet, J., & Shin, H. (2010). Observational fear learning involves affective pain system. *October*, 13(4), 482–488.
- 148. Jeon, D., & Shin, H. S. (2011). A mouse model for observational fear learning and the empathetic response. *Current Protocols in Neuroscience*, *SUPPL.57*, 1–9.

- Jones, C. E., & Monfils, M.-H. (2016). Dominance status predicts social fear transmission in laboratory rats. *Animal Cognition*, 19, 1051–1069.
- 150. Kaczmarek, L., & Nikołajew, E. (1990). C-fos protooncogene expression and neuronal plasticity. *Acta Neurobiologiae Experimentalis*, *50*(4–5), 173–179.
- Kalueff, A. V., Stewart, A. M., Song, C., Berridge, K. C., Graybiel, A. M., & Fentress, J. C. (2016). Neurobiology of rodent self-grooming and its value for translational neuroscience. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 17(1), 45–59.
- 152. Kalueff, A. V., & Tuohimaa, P. (2004). Grooming analysis algorithm for neurobehavioural stress research. *Brain Research Protocols*, *13*(3), 151–158.
- 153. Kalueff, A. V., & Tuohimaa, P. (2005). Contrasting grooming phenotypes in three mouse strains markedly different in anxiety and activity (129S1, BALB/c and NMRI). *Behavioural Brain Research*, 160(1), 1–10.
- 154. Kanwisher, N., McDermott, J., & Chun, M. M. (1997). The fusiform face area: a module in human extrastriate cortex specialized for face perception. *The Journal of Neuroscience : The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, *17*(11), 4302–4311.
- 155. Kapp, B. S., Whalen, P. J., Supple, W. F., & Pascoe, J. P. (1992). *Amygdaloid* contributions to conditioned arousal and sensory information processing.
- 156. Karalis, N., Dejean, C., Chaudun, F., Khoder, S., R Rozeske, R., Wurtz, H., Bagur, S., Benchenane, K., Sirota, A., Courtin, J., & Herry, C. (2016). 4-Hz oscillations synchronize prefrontal-amygdala circuits during fear behavior. *Nature Neuroscience*, 19(4), 605–612.
- Karin, M., Liu, Z., & Zandi, E. (1997). AP-1 function and regulation. *Current Opinion in Cell Biology*, 9(2), 240–246.
- 158. Kaźmierowska, A. M., Kostecki, M., Szczepanik, M., Nikolaev, T., Hamed, A., Michałowski, J. M., Wypych, M., Marchewka, A., & Knapska, E. (2023). Rats respond to aversive emotional arousal of human handlers with the activation of the basolateral and central amygdala. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States* of America, 120(46), e2302655120.
- 159. Keeling, L. J., Jonare, L., & Lanneborn, L. (2009). Investigating horse-human interactions: The effect of a nervous human. *The Veterinary Journal*, *181*(1), 70–71.
- 160. Kemp, A., Tischmeyer, W., & Manahan-Vaughan, D. (2013). Learning-facilitated longterm depression requires activation of the immediate early gene, c-fos, and is transcription dependent. *Behavioural Brain Research*, 254, 83–91.
- Kemper, T. L., & Bauman, M. L. (1993). The contribution of neuropathologic studies to the understanding of autism. *Neurologic Clinics*, *11*(1), 175–187.

- 162. Keum, S., Park, J., Kim, A., Park, J., Kim, K. K., Jeong, J., & Shin, H. S. (2016). Variability in empathic fear response among 11 inbred strains of mice. *Genes, Brain and Behavior*, 15(2), 231–242.
- 163. Khaliulin, I., Hamoudi, W., & Amal, H. (2024). The multifaceted role of mitochondria in autism spectrum disorder. *Molecular Psychiatry*.
- Kikusui, T., Winslow, J. T., & Mori, Y. (2006). Social buffering: relief from stress and anxiety. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 361(1476), 2215–2228.
- 165. Kim, B. S., Lee, J., Bang, M., Seo, B. A., Khalid, A., Jung, M. W., & Jeon, D. (2014). Differential regulation of observational fear and neural oscillations by serotonin and dopamine in the mouse anterior cingulate cortex. *Psychopharmacology*, 231(22), 4371– 4381.
- 166. Kiyokawa, Y., Kikusui, T., Takeuchi, Y., & Mori, Y. (2004). Partner's stress status influences social buffering effects in rats. *Behavioral Neuroscience*, *118*(4), 798.
- Klingner, C. M., & Guntinas-Lichius, O. (2023). Mimik und Emotion. *Laryngo-Rhino-Otologie*, 102(S 01), S115–S125.
- 168. Klüver, H., & Bucy, P. C. (1937). "Psychic blindness" and other symptoms following bilateral temporal lobectomy in Rhesus monkeys. *American Journal of Physiology*.
- Knapska, E., Mikosz, M., Werka, T., & Maren, S. (2010). Social modulation of learning in rats. *Learning & Memory*, 17(1), 35–42.
- Knapska, E., Nikolaev, E., Boguszewski, P., Walasek, G., Blaszczyk, J., Kaczmarek, L., & Werka, T. (2006). Between-subject transfer of emotional information evokes specific pattern of amygdala activation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 103(10), 3858–3862.
- 171. Knapska, E., Radwanska, K., Werka, T., & Kaczmarek, L. (2007). Functional Internal Complexity of Amygdala: Focus on Gene Activity Mapping After Behavioral Training and Drugs of Abuse. *Physiological Reviews*, 87(4), 1113–1173.
- 172. Kondrakiewicz, K., Rokosz-Andraka, K., Nikolaev, T., Górkiewicz, T., Danielewski, K., Gruszczyńska, A., Meyza, K., & Knapska, E. (2019). Social Transfer of Fear in Rodents. *Current Protocols in Neuroscience*, 90(1).
- 173. Kong, S. W., Sahin, M., Collins, C. D., Wertz, M. H., Campbell, M. G., Leech, J. D., Krueger, D., Bear, M. F., Kunkel, L. M., & Kohane, I. S. (2014). Divergent dysregulation of gene expression in murine models of fragile X syndrome and tuberous sclerosis. *Molecular Autism*, 5(1), 16.

- 174. Kosaka, H., Okamoto, Y., Munesue, T., Yamasue, H., Inohara, K., Fujioka, T., Anme, T., Orisaka, M., Ishitobi, M., & Jung, M. (2016). Oxytocin efficacy is modulated by dosage and oxytocin receptor genotype in young adults with high-functioning autism: a 24-week randomized clinical trial. *Translational Psychiatry*, 6(8), e872–e872.
- 175. Krakowiak, P., Goines, P. E., Tancredi, D. J., Ashwood, P., Hansen, R. L., Hertz-Picciotto, I., & Van de Water, J. (2017). Neonatal cytokine profiles associated with autism spectrum disorder. *Biological Psychiatry*, 81(5), 442–451.
- 176. Kret, M. E., Massen, J. J. M., & De Waal, F. B. M. (2022). My Fear Is Not, and Never Will Be, Your Fear: On Emotions and Feelings in Animals. *Affective Science*, 3(1), 182–189.
- 177. Kumari, D., & Usdin, K. (2020). Molecular analysis of FMR1 alleles for fragile X syndrome diagnosis and patient stratification. *Expert Review of Molecular Diagnostics*, 20(4), 363–365.
- 178. LaBar, K. S., Gatenby, J. C., Gore, J. C., LeDoux, J. E., & Phelps, E. A. (1998). Human amygdala activation during conditioned fear acquisition and extinction: a mixed-trial fMRI study. *Neuron*, 20(5), 937–945.
- 179. Lai, J. K. Y., Lerch, J. P., Doering, L. C., Foster, J. A., & Ellegood, J. (2016). Regional brain volumes changes in adult male FMR1-KO mouse on the FVB strain. *Neuroscience*, *318*(January), 12–21.
- Lai, M.-C., Lombardo, M. V., & Baron-Cohen, S. (2014). Autism. Lancet (London, England), 383(9920), 896–910.
- Langford, D. J., Crager, S. E., Shehzad, Z., Smith, S. B., Sotocinal, S. G., Levenstadt, J. S., Chanda, M. L., Levitin, D. J., & Mogil, J. S. (2006). Social Modulation of Pain as Evidence. June.
- Langford, D. J., Tuttle, A. H., Brown, K., Deschenes, S., Fischer, D. B., Mutso, A., Root, K. C., Sotocinal, S. G., Stern, M. A., & Mogil, J. S. (2010). Social approach to pain in laboratory mice. *Social Neuroscience*, 5(2), 163–170.
- Lannom, M. C., Nielsen, J., Nawaz, A., Shilikbay, T., & Ceman, S. (2021). FMRP and MOV10 regulate Dicer1 expression and dendrite development. *PLoS One*, 16(11), e0260005.
- 184. Laubach, M., Amarante, L. M., Swanson, K., & White, S. R. (2018). What, if anything, is rodent prefrontal cortex? *eNeuro*, *5*(5).
- 185. Lauer, J., Zhou, M., Ye, S., Menegas, W., Schneider, S., Nath, T., Rahman, M. M., Di Santo, V., Soberanes, D., Feng, G., Murthy, V. N., Lauder, G., Dulac, C., Mathis, M. W.,

& Mathis, A. (2022). Multi-animal pose estimation, identification and tracking with DeepLabCut. *Nature Methods*, *19*(4), 496–504.

- 186. Lawrence, Y., Kemper, T., Bauman, M., & Blatt, G. (2010). Parvalbumin-, calbindin-, and calretinin-immunoreactive hippocampal interneuron density in autism. *Acta Neurologica Scandinavica*, 121(2), 99–108.
- LeDoux, J. (2003). The emotional brain, fear, and the amygdala. *Cellular and Molecular Neurobiology*, 23(4–5), 727–738.
- LeDoux, J. E. (2000). Emotion Circuits in the Brain. Annual Review of Neuroscience, 23(1), 155–184.
- LeDoux, J. E. (2017). Semantics, surplus meaning, and the science of fear. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 21(5), 303–306.
- 190. LeDoux, J. E. (2021). What emotions might be like in other animals. *Current Biology*, 31(13), R824–R829.
- 191. Lee, M., Krishnamurthy, J., Susi, A., Sullivan, C., Gorman, G. H., Hisle-Gorman, E., Erdie-Lalena, C. R., & Nylund, C. M. (2018). Association of autism spectrum disorders and inflammatory bowel disease. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 48, 1523–1529.
- 192. Levy, D. R., Hunter, N., Lin, S., Robinson, E. M., Gillis, W., Conlin, E. B., Anyoha, R., Shansky, R. M., & Datta, S. R. (2023). Mouse spontaneous behavior reflects individual variation rather than estrous state. *Current Biology*, 33(7), 1358-1364.e4.
- 193. Li, G., Lu, C., Yin, M., Wang, P., Zhang, P., Wu, J., Wang, W., Wang, D., Wang, M., Liu, J., Lin, X., Zhang, J.-X., Wang, Z., Yu, Y., & Zhang, Y.-F. (2024). Neural substrates for regulating self-grooming behavior in rodents. *Journal of Zhejiang University-SCIENCE B*, 25(10), 841–856.
- 194. Li, Y., Mathis, A., Grewe, B. F., Osterhout, J. A., Ahanonu, B., Schnitzer, M. J., Murthy, V. N., & Dulac, C. (2017). Neuronal Representation of Social Information in the Medial Amygdala of Awake Behaving Mice. *Cell*, 171(5), 1176-1190.e17.
- 195. Likhtik, E., Stujenske, J. M., A Topiwala, M., Harris, A. Z., & Gordon, J. A. (2014). Prefrontal entrainment of amygdala activity signals safety in learned fear and innate anxiety. *Nature Neuroscience*, 17(1), 106–113.
- 196. Liu, X., Ramirez, S., Pang, P. T., Puryear, C. B., Govindarajan, A., Deisseroth, K., & Tonegawa, S. (2012). Optogenetic stimulation of a hippocampal engram activates fear memory recall. *Nature*, 484(7394), 381–385.

- 197. Loos, M., Koopmans, B., Aarts, E., Maroteaux, G., Van Der Sluis, S., Verhage, M., Smit, A. B., Brussaard, A. B., Borst, J. G., Elgersma, Y., Galjart, N., Van Der Horst, G. T., Levelt, C. N., Pennartz, C. M., Smit, A. B., Spruijt, B. M., Verhage, M., & De Zeeuw, C. I. (2014). Sheltering behavior and locomotor activity in 11 genetically diverse common inbred mouse strains using home-cage monitoring. *PLoS ONE*, *9*(9), 1–9.
- 198. Lundqvist, L. (1995). Facial EMG reactions to facial expressions: A case of facial emotional contagion? *Scandinavian Journal of Psychology*, *36*(2), 130–141.
- 199. MacLean, P. D. (1985). Brain Evolution Relating to Family, Play, and the Separation Call. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 42(4), 405.
- 200. MacLean, P. D. (1990). The triune brain in evolution: Role in paleocerebral functions.Plenum Press.
- 201. Malkova, N. V., Collin, Z. Y., Hsiao, E. Y., Moore, M. J., & Patterson, P. H. (2012). Maternal immune activation yields offspring displaying mouse versions of the three core symptoms of autism. *Brain, Behavior, and Immunity*, 26(4), 607–616.
- 202. Marco, E. J., Hinkley, L. B. N., Hill, S. S., & Nagarajan, S. S. (2011). Sensory Processing in Autism: A Review of Neurophysiologic Findings. *Pediatric Research*, 69(8), 48–54.
- Maren, S. (2011). Seeking a Spotless Mind: Extinction, Deconsolidation, and Erasure of Fear Memory. *Neuron*, 70(5), 830–845.
- 204. Martinez, R. C., Gupta, N., Lázaro-Muñoz, G., Sears, R. M., Kim, S., Moscarello, J. M., LeDoux, J. E., & Cain, C. K. (2013). Active vs. reactive threat responding is associated with differential c-Fos expression in specific regions of amygdala and prefrontal cortex. *Learning & Memory*, 20(8), 446–452.
- 205. Masi, A., Glozier, N., Dale, R., & Guastella, A. J. (2017). The immune system, cytokines, and biomarkers in autism spectrum disorder. *Neuroscience Bulletin*, *33*, 194–204.
- 206. Mathis, A., Mamidanna, P., Cury, K. M., Abe, T., Murthy, V. N., Mathis, M. W., & Bethge, M. (2018). DeepLabCut: markerless pose estimation of user-defined body parts with deep learning. *Nature Neuroscience*, 21(9), 1281–1289.
- 207. Matta, S. M., Hill-Yardin, E. L., & Crack, P. J. (2019). The influence of neuroinflammation in Autism Spectrum Disorder. *Brain, Behavior, and Immunity*, 79, 75–90.
- 208. McElhanon, B. O., McCracken, C., Karpen, S., & Sharp, W. G. (2014). Gastrointestinal symptoms in autism spectrum disorder: a meta-analysis. *Pediatrics*, *133*(5), 872–883.
- 209. McFarland, D. (1982). *The Oxford Companion to Animal Behavior*. Oxford University Press. https://books.google.pl/books?id=3AEpAQAAMAAJ

- 210. McKinney, B. C., Grossman, A. W., Elisseou, N. M., & Greenough, W. T. (2005). Dendritic spine abnormalities in the occipital cortex of C57BL/6 Fmr1 knockout mice. *American Journal of Medical Genetics. Part B, Neuropsychiatric Genetics : The Official Publication of the International Society of Psychiatric Genetics, 136B*(1), 98–102.
- 211. Menzel, E. W. (1974). Chapter 3 A Group of Young Chimpanzees in a One-Acre Field1 In a. M. Schrier & F. Stollnitz (Eds.), *Behavior of Nonhuman Primates* (Vol. 5, pp. 83– 153). Elsevier.
- 212. Meyza, K., Nikolaev, T., Kondrakiewicz, K., Blanchard, D. C., Blanchard, R. J., & Knapska, E. (2015). Neuronal correlates of asocial behavior in a BTBR T+Itpr3tf/J mouse model of autism. *Frontiers in Behavioral Neuroscience*, 9(August), 1–13.
- 213. Mikosz, M., Nowak, A., Werka, T., & Knapska, E. (2015). Sex differences in social modulation of learning in rats. *Scientific Reports*, *5*(1), 18114.
- Moll, J., de Oliveira-Souza, R., Moll, F. T., Ignácio, F. A., Bramati, I. E., Caparelli-Dáquer, E. M., & Eslinger, P. J. (2005). The Moral Affiliations of Disgust: A Functional MRI Study. *Cognitive and Behavioral Neurology*, 18(1). https://journals.lww.com/cogbehavneurol/fulltext/2005/03000/the_moral_affiliations_of _disgust_a_functional.8.aspx
- Moll, J., Krueger, F., Zahn, R., Pardini, M., de Oliveira-Souza, R., & Grafman, J. (2006).
 Human fronto-mesolimbic networks guide decisions about charitable donation.
 Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 103(42), 15623–15628.
- Morgan, J. I., Cohen, D. R., Hempstead, J. L., & Curran, T. (1987). Mapping Patterns of c-fos Expression in the Central Nervous System after Seizure. *Science, New Series*, 237(4811), 192–197.
- 217. Morgan, J. T., Barger, N., Amaral, D. G., & Schumann, C. M. (2014). Stereological study of amygdala glial populations in adolescents and adults with autism spectrum disorder. *PloS One*, 9(10), e110356.
- Morgan, J. T., Chana, G., Abramson, I., Semendeferi, K., Courchesne, E., & Everall, I.
 P. (2012). Abnormal microglial–neuronal spatial organization in the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex in autism. *Brain Research*, 1456, 72–81.
- Moy, S. S., Nadler, J. J., Young, N. B., Nonneman, R. J., Grossman, A. W., Murphy, D. L., D'Ercole, A. J., Crawley, J. N., Magnuson, T. R., & Lauder, J. M. (2009). Social approach in genetically engineered mouse lines relevant to autism. *Genes, Brain and Behavior*, 8(2), 129–142.

- Moyaho, A., Rivas-Zamudio, X., Ugarte, A., Eguibar, J. R., & Valencia, J. (2015). Smell facilitates auditory contagious yawning in stranger rats. *Animal Cognition*, 18(1), 279–290.
- 221. Mui, P. H., Goudbeek, M. B., Roex, C., Spierts, W., & Swerts, M. G. (2018). Smile mimicry and emotional contagion in audio-visual computer-mediated communication. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 9, 2077.
- 222. Mutschler, I., Reinbold, C., Wankerl, J., Seifritz, E., & Ball, T. (2013). Structural basis of empathy and the domain general region in the anterior insular cortex. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, *7*, 177.
- 223. Neri, G. (2017). Chapter 1 The Clinical Phenotype of the Fragile X Syndrome and Related Disorders. In R. Willemsen & R. F. Kooy (Eds.), *Fragile X Syndrome* (pp. 1–16). Academic Press.
- 224. Nikolaev, E., Tischmeyer, W., Krug, M., Matthies, H., & Kaczmarek, L. (1991). C-fos protooncogene expression in rat hippocampus and entorhinal cortex following tetanic stimulation of the perforant path. *Brain Research*, 560(1–2), 346–349.
- 225. Nikolaev, E., Werka, T., & Kaczmarek, L. (1992). C-fos protooncogene expression in rat brain after long-term training of two-way active avoidance reaction. *Behavioural Brain Research*, 48(1), 91–94.
- 226. Nilsson, S. R., Goodwin, N. L., Choong, J. J., Hwang, S., Wright, H. R., Norville, Z. C., Tong, X., Lin, D., Bentzley, B. S., Eshel, N., McLaughlin, R. J., & Golden, S. A. (2020). Simple Behavioral Analysis (SimBA) – an open source toolkit for computer classification of complex social behaviors in experimental animals. *bioRxiv*, 2020.04.19.049452.
- 227. Nimchinsky, E. A., Gilissen, E., Allman, J. M., Perl, D. P., Erwin, J. M., & Hof, P. R. (1999). A neuronal morphologic type unique to humans and great apes. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 96(9), 5268–5273.
- 228. Noriega, D. B., & Savelkoul, H. F. (2014). Immune dysregulation in autism spectrum disorder. *European Journal of Pediatrics*, *173*, 33–43.
- Nott, A., Cheng, J., Gao, F., Lin, Y.-T., Gjoneska, E., Ko, T., Minhas, P., Zamudio, A. V., Meng, J., & Zhang, F. (2016). Histone deacetylase 3 associates with MeCP2 to regulate FOXO and social behavior. *Nature Neuroscience*, *19*(11), 1497–1505.
- 230. Okulski, P., Jay, T. M., Jaworski, J., Duniec, K., Dzwonek, J., Konopacki, F. A., Wilczynski, G. M., Sánchez-Capelo, A., Mallet, J., & Kaczmarek, L. (2007). TIMP-1 abolishes MMP-9-dependent long-lasting long-term potentiation in the prefrontal cortex. *Biological Psychiatry*, 62(4), 359–362.

- 231. Olsson, A., Nearing, K. I., & Phelps, E. A. (2007). Learning fears by observing others: the neural systems of social fear transmission. *Social Cognitive and Affective Neuroscience*, 2(1), 3–11.
- 232. Paban, V., Alescio-Lautier, B., Devigne, C., & Soumireu-Mourat, B. (1999). Fos protein expression induced by intracerebroventricular injection of vasopressin in unconditioned and conditioned mice. *Brain Research*, 825(1–2), 115–131.
- 233. Palagi, E., Leone, A., Mancini, G., & Ferrari, P. F. (2009). Contagious yawning in gelada baboons as a possible expression of empathy. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 106(46), 19262–19267.
- 234. Palumbo, R. V., Marraccini, M. E., Weyandt, L. L., Wilder-Smith, O., McGee, H. A., Liu, S., & Goodwin, M. S. (2017). Interpersonal autonomic physiology: A systematic review of the literature. *Personality and Social Psychology Review*, 21(2), 99–141.
- Papez, J. W. (1937). A Proposed Mechanism Of Emotion. Archives of Neurology & Psychiatry, 38(4), 725–743.
- Paré, D., & Quirk, G. J. (2017). When scientific paradigms lead to tunnel vision: lessons from the study of fear. *Npj Science of Learning*, 2(1), 1–8.
- 237. Parrott, J. M., Oster, T., & Lee, H. Y. (2021). Altered inflammatory response in FMRPdeficient microglia. *iScience*, 24(11), 103293.
- Patki, G., Salvi, A., Liu, H., & Salim, S. (2015). Witnessing traumatic events and post-traumatic stress disorder: Insights from an animal model. *Neuroscience Letters*, 600, 28–32.
- 239. Paxinos, G., & Franklin, K. B. (2019). *Paxinos and Franklin's the mouse brain in stereotaxic coordinates*. Academic press.
- 240. Pennypacker, K. (1995). AP-1 transcription factor complexes in CNS disorders and development. *The Journal of the Florida Medical Association*, 82(8), 551–554.
- Peter, M., Bathellier, B., Fontinha, B., Pliota, P., Haubensak, W., & Rumpel, S. (2013).
 Transgenic mouse models enabling photolabeling of individual neurons in vivo. *PloS One*, 8(4), e62132.
- 242. Phillips, M., & Pozzo-Miller, L. (2015). Dendritic spine dysgenesis in autism related disorders. *Neuroscience Letters*, 601, 30–40.
- 243. Pinhal, C. M., van den Boom, B. J., Santana-Kragelund, F., Fellinger, L., Bech, P., Hamelink, R., Feng, G., Willuhn, I., Feenstra, M. G., & Denys, D. (2018). Differential effects of deep brain stimulation of the internal capsule and the striatum on excessive grooming in Sapap3 mutant mice. *Biological Psychiatry*, 84(12), 917–925.

- Pinto, D., Delaby, E., Merico, D., Barbosa, M., Merikangas, A., Klei, L., Thiruvahindrapuram, B., Xu, X., Ziman, R., Wang, Z., Vorstman, J. A. S., Thompson, A., Regan, R., Pilorge, M., Pellecchia, G., Pagnamenta, A. T., Oliveira, B., Marshall, C. R., Magalhaes, T. R., ... Scherer, S. W. (2014). Convergence of Genes and Cellular Pathways Dysregulated in Autism Spectrum Disorders. *The American Journal of Human Genetics*, 94(5), 677–694.
- 245. Porcelli, S., Van Der Wee, N., Van Der Werff, S., Aghajani, M., Glennon, J. C., Van Heukelum, S., Mogavero, F., Lobo, A., Olivera, F. J., Lobo, E., Posadas, M., Dukart, J., Kozak, R., Arce, E., Ikram, A., Vorstman, J., Bilderbeck, A., Saris, I., Kas, M. J., & Serretti, A. (2019). Social brain, social dysfunction and social withdrawal. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, 97, 10–33.
- 246. Preston, S. D., & De Waal, F. B. (2002). Empathy: Its ultimate and proximate bases. *Behavioral and Brain Sciences*, 25(1), 1–20.
- 247. Prochazkova, E., & Kret, M. E. (2017). Connecting minds and sharing emotions through mimicry: A neurocognitive model of emotional contagion. *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*, 80(October 2016), 99–114.
- 248. Provine, R. R. (1992). Contagious laughter: Laughter is a sufficient stimulus for laughs and smiles. *Bulletin of the Psychonomic Society*, *30*(1), 1–4.
- Puścian, A., Winiarski, M., Borowska, J., Łęski, S., Górkiewicz, T., Chaturvedi, M., Nowicka, K., Wołyniak, M., Chmielewska, J. J., Nikolaev, T., Meyza, K., Dziembowska, M., Kaczmarek, L., & Knapska, E. (2022). Targeted therapy of cognitive deficits in fragile X syndrome. *Molecular Psychiatry*, 27(6), 2766–2776.
- 250. Rivera, S., Khrestchatisky, M., Kaczmarek, L., Rosenberg, G. A., & Jaworski, D. M. (2010). Metzincin proteases and their inhibitors: foes or friends in nervous system physiology? *Journal of Neuroscience*, *30*(46), 15337–15357.
- 251. Rizzolatti, G., & Craighero, L. (2004). THE MIRROR-NEURON SYSTEM. Annual Review of Neuroscience, 27(1), 169–192.
- 252. Rochat, M. J. (2023). Sex and gender differences in the development of empathy. *Journal of Neuroscience Research*, *101*(5), 718–729.
- 253. Rojek-Sito, K., Meyza, K., Ziegart-Sadowska, K., Nazaruk, K., Puścian, A., Hamed, A., Kiełbiński, M., Solecki, W., & Knapska, E. (2023). Optogenetic and chemogenetic approaches reveal differences in neuronal circuits that mediate initiation and maintenance of social interaction. *PLOS Biology*, 21(11), e3002343.

- 254. Romero, T., Castellanos, M. A., & De Waal, F. B. (2010). Consolation as possible expression of sympathetic concern among chimpanzees. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *107*(27), 12110–12115.
- Romero, T., Ito, M., Saito, A., & Hasegawa, T. (2014). Social Modulation of Contagious Yawning in Wolves. *PLOS ONE*, 9(8), e105963.
- Rozeske, R. R., Jercog, D., Karalis, N., Chaudun, F., Khoder, S., Girard, D., Winke, N., & Herry, C. (2018). Prefrontal-periaqueductal gray-projecting neurons mediate context fear discrimination. *Neuron*, 97(4), 898–910.
- Rudelli, R. D., Brown, W. T., Wisniewski, K., Jenkins, E. C., Laure-Kamionowska, M., Connell, F., & Wisniewski, H. M. (1985). Adult fragile X syndrome. Cliniconeuropathologic findings. *Acta Neuropathologica*, 67(3–4), 289–295.
- 258. Rueckert, L., & Naybar, N. (2008). Gender differences in empathy: The role of the right hemisphere. *Brain and Cognition*, 67(2), 162–167.
- 259. Sakamoto, T., & Yashima, J. (2022). Prefrontal cortex is necessary for long-term social recognition memory in mice. *Behavioural Brain Research*, *435*, 114051.
- Sanchez, M. M., McCormack, K. M., & Howell, B. R. (2015). Social buffering of stress responses in nonhuman primates: Maternal regulation of the development of emotional regulatory brain circuits. *Social Neuroscience*, *10*(5), 512–526.
- Scheggia, D., Managò, F., Maltese, F., Bruni, S., Nigro, M., Dautan, D., Latuske, P., Contarini, G., Gomez-Gonzalo, M., Requie, L. M., Ferretti, V., Castellani, G., Mauro, D., Bonavia, A., Carmignoto, G., Yizhar, O., & Papaleo, F. (2020). Somatostatin interneurons in the prefrontal cortex control affective state discrimination in mice. *Nature Neuroscience*, 23(1), 47–60.
- 262. Schielen, S. J. C., Pilmeyer, J., Aldenkamp, A. P., & Zinger, S. (2024). The diagnosis of ASD with MRI: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Translational Psychiatry*, 14(1), 318.
- 263. Schmeisser, M. J., Ey, E., Wegener, S., Bockmann, J., Stempel, A. V., Kuebler, A., Janssen, A.-L., Udvardi, P. T., Shiban, E., & Spilker, C. (2012). Autistic-like behaviours and hyperactivity in mice lacking ProSAP1/Shank2. *Nature*, 486(7402), 256–260.
- Schulte-Rüther, M., Markowitsch, H. J., Shah, N. J., Fink, G. R., & Piefke, M. (2008).
 Gender differences in brain networks supporting empathy. *Neuroimage*, 42(1), 393–403.
- 265. Schumann, C. M., & Amaral, D. G. (2006). Stereological analysis of amygdala neuron number in autism. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *26*(29), 7674–7679.

- Seeley, W. W. (2010). Anterior insula degeneration in frontotemporal dementia. *Brain* Structure and Function, 214, 465–475.
- 267. Sidhu, H., Dansie, L. E., Hickmott, P. W., Ethell, D. W., & Ethell, I. M. (2014). Genetic Removal of Matrix Metalloproteinase 9 Rescues the Symptoms of Fragile X Syndrome in a Mouse Model. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 34(30), 9867–9879.
- Simner, M. L. (1971). Newborn's response to the cry of another infant. *Developmental Psychology*, 5(1), 136.
- 269. Singer, T. (2006). The neuronal basis and ontogeny of empathy and mind reading: Review of literature and implications for future research. *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*, 30(6), 855–863.
- 270. Smith, M. L., Hostetler, C. M., Heinricher, M. M., & Ryabinin, A. E. (2016). Social transfer of pain in mice. *Science Advances*, 2(10).
- 271. Spencer, C. M., Alekseyenko, O., Hamilton, S. M., Thomas, A. M., Serysheva, E., Yuva-Paylor, L. A., & Paylor, R. (2011). Modifying behavioral phenotypes in Fmr1KO mice: genetic background differences reveal autistic-like responses. *Autism Research : Official Journal of the International Society for Autism Research*, 4(1), Article 1.
- 272. Spruijt, B. M., Van Hooff, J. A., & Gispen, W. H. (1992). Ethology and neurobiology of grooming behavior. *Physiological Reviews*, 72(3), 825–852.
- 273. Sterley, T.-L., Baimoukhametova, D., Füzesi, T., Zurek, A. A., Daviu, N., Rasiah, N. P., Rosenegger, D., & Bains, J. S. (2018). Social transmission and buffering of synaptic changes after stress. *Nature Neuroscience*.
- 274. Stoner, R., Chow, M. L., Boyle, M. P., Sunkin, S. M., Mouton, P. R., Roy, S., Wynshaw-Boris, A., Colamarino, S. A., Lein, E. S., & Courchesne, E. (2014). Patches of disorganization in the neocortex of children with autism. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 370(13), 1209–1219.
- 275. Sun, W., Poschmann, J., Cruz-Herrera del Rosario, R., Parikshak, N. N., Hajan, H. S., Kumar, V., Ramasamy, R., Belgard, T. G., Elanggovan, B., Wong, C. C. Y., Mill, J., Geschwind, D. H., & Prabhakar, S. (2016). Histone Acetylome-wide Association Study of Autism Spectrum Disorder. *Cell*, 167(5), 1385-1397.e11.
- Tamietto, M., & De Gelder, B. (2010). Neural bases of the non-conscious perception of emotional signals. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 11(10), 697–709.
- 277. Tanaka, Y., Nakata, T., Hibino, H., Nishiyama, M., & Ino, D. (2023). Classification of multiple emotional states from facial expressions in head-fixed mice using a deep learning-based image analysis. *PLOS ONE*, 18(7), e0288930.

- 278. Tia, B., Saimpont, A., Paizis, C., Mourey, F., Fadiga, L., & Pozzo, T. (2011). Does observation of postural imbalance induce a postural reaction? *PloS One*, *6*(3), e17799.
- 279. Tischmeyer, W., Kaczmarek, L., Strauss, M., Jork, R., & Matthies, H. (1990). Accumulation of c-fos mRNA in rat hippocampus during acquisition of a brightness discrimination. *Behavioral and Neural Biology*, 54(2), 165–171.
- 280. Uppal, N., Gianatiempo, I., Wicinski, B., Schmeidler, J., Heinsen, H., Schmitz, C., Buxbaum, J. D., & Hof, P. R. (2014). Neuropathology of the posteroinferior occipitotemporal gyrus in children with autism. *Molecular Autism*, 5(1), 17.
- 281. Van Baaren, R., Janssen, L., Chartrand, T. L., & Dijksterhuis, A. (2009). Where is the love? The social aspects of mimicry. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 364(1528), 2381–2389.
- 282. van Erp, A. M., Kruk, M. R., Meelis, W., & Willekens-Bramer, D. C. (1994). Effect of environmental stressors on time course, variability and form of self-grooming in the rat: handling, social contact, defeat, novelty, restraint and fur moistening. *Behavioural Brain Research*, 65(1), 47–55.
- 283. Varghese, M., Keshav, N., Jacot-Descombes, S., Warda, T., Wicinski, B., Dickstein, D. L., Harony-Nicolas, H., De Rubeis, S., Drapeau, E., Buxbaum, J. D., & Hof, P. R. (2017). Autism spectrum disorder: neuropathology and animal models. *Acta Neuropathologica*, 134(4), 537–566.
- 284. Vaughan, R. M., Kordich, J. J., Chan, C.-Y., Sasi, N. K., Celano, S. L., Sisson, K. A., Van Baren, M., Kortus, M. G., Aguiar, D. J., & Martin, K. R. (2022). Chemical biology screening identifies a vulnerability to checkpoint kinase inhibitors in TSC2-deficient renal angiomyolipomas. *Frontiers in Oncology*, 12, 852859.
- 285. Wang, X., McCoy, P. A., Rodriguiz, R. M., Pan, Y., Je, H. S., Roberts, A. C., Kim, C. J., Berrios, J., Colvin, J. S., & Bousquet-Moore, D. (2011). Synaptic dysfunction and abnormal behaviors in mice lacking major isoforms of Shank3. *Human Molecular Genetics*, 20(15), 3093–3108.
- 286. Warren, B. L., Vialou, V. F., Iñiguez, S. D., Alcantara, L. F., Wright, K. N., Feng, J., Kennedy, P. J., LaPlant, Q., Shen, L., Nestler, E. J., & Bolaños-Guzmán, C. A. (2013). Neurobiological Sequelae of Witnessing Stressful Events in Adult Mice. *Biological Psychiatry*, 73(1), 7–14.
- 287. Watanabe, S., & Ono, K. (1986). An experimental analysis of "empathic" response: Effects of pain reactions of pigeon upon other pigeon's operant behavior. *Behavioural Processes*, 13(3), 269–277.

- 288. Wegiel, J., Flory, M., Kuchna, I., Nowicki, K., Ma, S. Y., Imaki, H., Wegiel, J., Cohen, I. L., London, E., Brown, W. T., & Wisniewski, T. (2014). Brain-region-specific alterations of the trajectories of neuronal volume growth throughout the lifespan in autism. *Acta Neuropathologica Communications*, 2(1), 28.
- 289. Wegiel, J., Flory, M., Kuchna, I., Nowicki, K., Ma, S. Y., Imaki, H., Wegiel, J., Frackowiak, J., Kolecka, B. M., & Wierzba-Bobrowicz, T. (2015). Neuronal nucleus and cytoplasm volume deficit in children with autism and volume increase in adolescents and adults. *Acta Neuropathologica Communications*, *3*, 1–17.
- Weidenheim, K. M., Goodman, L., Dickson, D. W., Gillberg, C., Råstam, M., & Rapin, I. (2001). Etiology and pathophysiology of autistic behavior: clues from two cases with an unusual variant of neuroaxonal dystrophy. *Journal of Child Neurology*, *16*(11), 809–819.
- 291. Weiskrantz, L. (1956). Behavioral changes associated with ablation of the amygdaloid complex in monkeys. *Journal of Comparative and Physiological Psychology*, *49*(4), 381.
- Wiltschko, A. B., Johnson, M. J., Iurilli, G., Peterson, R. E., Katon, J. M., Pashkovski, S. L., Abraira, V. E., Adams, R. P., & Datta, S. R. (2015). Mapping Sub-Second Structure in Mouse Behavior. *Neuron*, 88(6), 1121–1135.
- 293. Wisniewski, K. E., Segan, S. M., Miezejeski, C. M., Sersen, E. A., & Rudelli, R. D. (1991). The Fra(X) syndrome: neurological, electrophysiological, and neuropathological abnormalities. *American Journal of Medical Genetics*, 38(2–3), 476–480.
- 294. Xu, H., Liu, L., Tian, Y., Wang, J., Li, J., Zheng, J., Zhao, H., He, M., Xu, T. L., Duan, S., & Xu, H. (2019). A Disinhibitory Microcircuit Mediates Conditioned Social Fear in the Prefrontal Cortex. *Neuron*, 102(3), 668-682.e5.
- 295. Yamazaki, K., Beauchamp, G. K., Singer, A., Bard, J., & Boyse, E. A. (1999). Odortypes: Their origin and composition. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 96(4), 1522–1525.
- 296. Yan, Q., Asafo-Adjei, P., Arnold, H., Brown, R., & Bauchwitz, R. (2004). A phenotypic and molecular characterization of the fmr1-tm1Cgr fragile X mouse. *Genes, Brain and Behavior*, 3(6), 337–359.
- 297. Yang, C.-J., Tan, H.-P., Yang, F.-Y., Wang, H.-P., Liu, C.-L., He, H.-Z., Sang, B., Zhu, X.-M., & Du, Y.-J. (2015). The cortisol, serotonin and oxytocin are associated with repetitive behavior in autism spectrum disorder. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders*, 18, 12–20.

- 298. Yao, K., Bergamasco, M., Scattoni, M. L., & Vogel, A. P. (2023). A review of ultrasonic vocalizations in mice and how they relate to human speech. *The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America*, *154*(2), 650–660.
- 299. Ye, S., Filippova, A., Lauer, J., Schneider, S., Vidal, M., Qiu, T., Mathis, A., & Mathis, M. W. (2024). SuperAnimal pretrained pose estimation models for behavioral analysis. *Nature Communications*, 15(1), 5165.
- 300. Zahn-Waxler, C., Hollenbeck, B., & Radke-Yarrow, M. (1984). The origins of empathy and altruism. *Advances in Animal Welfare Science*, *85*, 21–39.
- 301. Zhang, D., Poustka, L., Marschik, P. B., & Einspieler, C. (2018). The onset of hand stereotypies in fragile X syndrome. *Developmental Medicine & Child Neurology*, 60(10), 1060–1061.
- 302. Zhang, Y., Bonnan, A., Bony, G., Ferezou, I., Pietropaolo, S., Ginger, M., Sans, N., Rossier, J., Oostra, B., & LeMasson, G. (2014). Dendritic channelopathies contribute to neocortical and sensory hyperexcitability in Fmr1–/y mice. *Nature Neuroscience*, 17(12), 1701–1709.
- 303. Zhang, Z., Marro, S. G., Zhang, Y., Arendt, K. L., Patzke, C., Zhou, B., Fair, T., Yang, N., Südhof, T. C., & Wernig, M. (2018). The fragile X mutation impairs homeostatic plasticity in human neurons by blocking synaptic retinoic acid signaling. *Science Translational Medicine*, 10(452), eaar4338.
- 304. Zhao, H., Wang, Q., Yan, T., Zhang, Y., Xu, H., Yu, H., Tu, Z., Guo, X., Jiang, Y., & Li, X. (2019). Maternal valproic acid exposure leads to neurogenesis defects and autism-like behaviors in non-human primates. *Translational Psychiatry*, 9(1), 267.

9. Publication record of the PhD Candidate

 Andraka, K., Kondrakiewicz, K., Rojek-Sito, K., Ziegart-Sadowska, K., Meyza, K., Nikolaev, T., Hamed, A., Kursa, M., Wójcik, M., Danielewski, K., Wiatrowska, M., Kublik, E., Bekisz, M., Lebitko, T., Duque, D., Jaworski, T., Madej, H., Konopka, W., Boguszewski, P. M., & Knapska, E. (2021). Distinct circuits in rat central amygdala for defensive behaviors evoked by socially signaled imminent versus remote danger. *Current Biology : CB*, *31*(11), 2347-2358.e6.

- de Hoz, L., Gierej, D., Lioudyno, V., Jaworski, J., Blazejczyk, M., Cruces-Solís, H., Beroun, A., Lebitko, T., Nikolaev, T., Knapska, E., Nelken, I., & Kaczmarek, L. (2017). Blocking c-Fos Expression Reveals the Role of Auditory Cortex Plasticity in Sound Frequency Discrimination Learning. *Cerebral Cortex*, 1–11.
- Kaźmierowska, A. M., Kostecki, M., Szczepanik, M., Nikolaev, T., Hamed, A., Michałowski, J. M., Wypych, M., Marchewka, A., & Knapska, E. (2023). Rats respond to aversive emotional arousal of human handlers with the activation of the basolateral and central amygdala. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 120(46), e2302655120.
- Kondrakiewicz, K., Rokosz-Andraka, K., Nikolaev, T., Górkiewicz, T., Danielewski, K., Gruszczyńska, A., Meyza, K., & Knapska, E. (2019). Social Transfer of Fear in Rodents. *Current Protocols in Neuroscience*, 90(1), e85.
- Meyza, K., Nikolaev, T., Kondrakiewicz, K., Blanchard, D. C., Blanchard, R. J., & Knapska, E. (2015). Neuronal correlates of asocial behavior in a BTBR T+Itpr3tf/J mouse model of autism. *Frontiers in Behavioral Neuroscience*, 9(August), 1–13.
- Puścian, A., Łęski, S., Kasprowicz, G., Winiarski, M., Borowska, J., Nikolaev, T., Boguszewski, P. M., Lipp, H. P., & Knapska, E. (2016). Eco-HAB as a fully automated and ecologically relevant assessment of social impairments in mouse models of autism. *eLife*, 5(October2016).
- Puścian, A., Winiarski, M., Borowska, J., Łęski, S., Górkiewicz, T., Chaturvedi, M., Nowicka, K., Wołyniak, M., Chmielewska, J. J., Nikolaev, T., Meyza, K., Dziembowska, M., Kaczmarek, L., & Knapska, E. (2022). Targeted therapy of cognitive deficits in fragile X syndrome. *Molecular Psychiatry*, 27(6), Article 6.
- Puścian, A., Winiarski, M., Łęski, S., Charzewski, Ł., Nikolaev, T., Borowska, J., Dzik, J. M., Bijata, M., Lipp, H.-P., Dziembowska, M., & Knapska, E. (2021). Chronic fluoxetine treatment impairs motivation and reward learning by affecting neuronal plasticity in the central amygdala. *British Journal of Pharmacology*, *178*(3), 672–688.